Public Document Pack

Resources Department
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Members of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, to
be held remotely by Zoom on 26 November 2020 at 7.30 pm.
Link to meeting: https://weareislington.zoom.us/j/99196193717

Enquiries to
Tel
E-mail
Despatched

:
:
:
:

Peter Moore
020 7527 3252
democracy@islington.gov.uk
18 November 2020

Membership
Councillors:
Councillor Osh Gantly (Chair)
Councillor Jilani Chowdhury
Chair)
Councillor Tricia Clarke
Councillor Roulin Khondoker
Councillor Martin Klute
Councillor Phil Graham
Councillor Clare Jeapes
Councillor Rakhia Ismail
Co-opted Member:

Substitute Members
Substitutes:
Councillor Anjna Khurana
(Vice- Councillor John Woolf
Councillor Sara Hyde

Substitutes:

Quorum: is 4 Councillors

1

A.

Formal Matters

1.

Introductions

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declaration of Substitute Members

4.

Declarations of Interest

Page

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the
existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it
becomes apparent;
 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.
In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in
discussion of the item.
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in
the discussion and vote on the item.
*(a)Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.
(b)Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your
expenses in carrying out
duties as a member, or of your election; including from a trade union.
(c)Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you
or your partner (or a body
in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and the council.
(d)Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e)Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or
longer.
(f)Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in
which you or your partner have
a beneficial interest.
(g)Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a
place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of
that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.
This applies to all members present at the meeting.

5.

Minutes of the previous meeting

6.

Chair's Report

1-6

2

7.

Public Questions
For members of the public to ask questions relating to any subject on the
meeting agenda under Procedure Rule 70.5. Alternatively, the Chair may
opt to accept questions from the public during the discussion on each
agenda item.

8.

Health and Wellbeing Board Update verbal

B.

Items for Decision/Discussion

Page

9.

Islington Safeguarding Annual Report

7 - 56

10.

Scrutiny Review - Adult paid carers - witness evidence/notes of carers

57 - 70

11.

Quarter 1 Performance Report

71 - 86

12.

COVID 19 Update

87 106

13.

Scrutiny Topic 2020/21 - verbal

14.

Work Programme 2020/21

C.

Urgent non-exempt items (if any)

107 108

Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered
urgently by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.
D.

Exclusion of Press and Public
To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the
agenda, it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential
information within the terms of the Access to Information Procedure
Rules in the Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the press and
public during discussion thereof.

E.

Confidential / Exempt Items

F.

Urgent Exempt Items (if any)

Page

Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently
by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be
3

agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.
1.

Performance Indicators - Quarter 1

The next meeting of the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee will be on 21 January 2021
Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the
council's website:
www.democracy.islington.gov.uk

4

Agenda Item 5
London Borough of Islington
Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - Thursday, 15 October 2020
Minutes of the meeting of the Virtual Health and Care Scrutiny Committee held on
Thursday, 15 October 2020 at 7.30 pm.
Present:

Councillors:

Gantly (Chair), Chowdhury (Vice-Chair), Clarke,
Khondoker, Klute, Graham and Jeapes

Also
Present:

Councillors

Turan and Lukes

Councillor Osh Gantly in the Chair
178

INTRODUCTIONS (ITEM NO. 1)
The Chair introduced Members and officers to the meeting

179

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (ITEM NO. 2)
Councillor Gallagher and Klute and Khondoker for lateness

180

DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (ITEM NO. 3)
None

181

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (ITEM NO. 4)
None

182

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (ITEM NO. 5)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 September 2020 be
confirmed and the Chair be authorised to sign them

183

MEMBERSHIP/TERMS OF REFERENCE (ITEM NO. 6)
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

184

CHAIR'S REPORT (ITEM NO. 7)
The Chair stated that she had discussed with Members of the Committee a possible
scrutiny topic for the remainder of the year and that BAME Members of the Committee
had expressed the view that a review on Health Inequalities should be considered,
especially in view of the COVID pandemic
The Chair added that the new Executive Member for Health and Social Care will be
looking at this and dependent on his findings the Committee could consider this as a
future scrutiny topic

185

PUBLIC QUESTIONS (ITEM NO. 8)
The Chair outlined the procedure for Public questions

186

HEALTH AND WELL-BEING UPDATE (ITEM NO. 10)
1

Page 1

Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - 15 October 2020
None

187

HEALTHWATCH ANNUAL REPORT/WORK PROGRAMME (ITEM NO. 9)
Emma Whitby, Healthwatch was present and outlined the report and presentation for
Members {copy interleaved)
During consideration of the report the following main points were made –
















Work in 20/21 – Whittington Estates – more diverse engagement in this
consultation. Non – emergency patient transport service – Healthwatch not
involved in consultation process and continue to raise concerns about this
system. Mental Health – highlighted poor access for BAME communities.
Digital Divide – extended model in to supported accommodation. Borough
Partnership – are an active Member and will be the lead on inequality
20 volunteers and 5 staff 2 of whom are full time and £156000 funding from
Local Authority. 3931 people engaged with Healthwatch through website and
650 people shared their health and social care story. 1141 people accessed
the information services and 7 reports produced about the improvements
people would like in local health and social care services
Responding to pandemic – advice on how to get NHS Dentist, updated advice
on shielding, how to cope during lockdown
Work in a variety of partnerships and bring resources to grass roots
organisations and provide a diverse communities health voice
Work Plan for 2020/21 – Pandemic – impacts, response, access, reduced
engagement. Accurate information, Digital inclusion, Fairer Together Borough
Partnership, Quality of Delivery and noted that there will be no visits to
services until future notice
In response to a question it was stated that residents feedback was that they
did feel that the NHS was doing its best to maintain services during the
pandemic, and that the NHS should be better at promoting the successes of
the service
Reference was made to the 111 service and that residents were not being
advised not to go to A&E. Healthwatch stated that they had no reports of
concerns from residents however they would investigate this following the
meeting
In response to a question as to the merger of the CCG’s in NCL it was stated
that the Haringey represented on the CCG Governing Body and other
boroughs were represented on the CCG Patient and Engagement Partnership
and Equalities Committee NCL experts by Experience in Mental Health, the
NCL Leders learning disability, and the CCG delivery and strategy Boards
It was stated that work was still taking place with Help on Your Doorstep, and
contact taking place with residents who had limited access to IT

The Chair thanked Emma Whitby for attending

188

COVID 19 UPDATE (ITEM NO. 11)
Julie Billett, Director of Public Health was present and was accompanied by Councillor
Sue Lukes Executive Member for Community Safety and Pandemic Response During consideration of the presentation the following main points were made –

2

Page 2

Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - 15 October 2020

























As of 30 September there were a total of 903 confirmed laboratory cases in
Islington
The average number of cases daily peaked at 17 cases from 29 March to 4
April
Over the last 4 weeks the number of cases has increased on a daily basis, but
testing has increased dramatically
The rate of positive cases has been increasing since beginning of August but
is lower than that of England and Islington is showing a decline in the rate of
people tested per 100000 since mid- August whilst overall in England there is
a rise in testing rates. Positivity rates are similar to that of London around 4%
155 deaths in Islington have been COVID related up to 4 September, and 2
death in the week to 11 September
Contact tracing – 419 cases in contact with 1118 contacts – 78% of cases
have been successfully contacted and of the contacts identified 71% have
been successfully contacted
Since the outbreak the Islington COVID 19 outbreak prevention and control
plan has been strengthened
The latest data shows that there are 90.3 cases per 100000 population
compared to 99 in London and 150 in England, however there is a rapidly
rising community transmission issue
Older peoples care homes – care homes are better placed to respond in
comparison to the first wave, and there have been no COVID related deaths in
care homes for the last 15 weeks. Staffing levels remain relatively stable
Key issues – access to testing remains an issue and the Council is working
with key partners to look at options to increase testing locally, whilst a national
solution is awaited. A local testing centre is now available at the Sobell Centre
car park and another in the south of the borough is being considered at a later
stage
Local contact tracing – focusing on contacting individuals who have tested
positive and have not been successfully contacted by the national service
within 24 hours. A Task and Finish Group has been convened to plan for the
‘go live’ of locally supported contact tracing and the national system is working
with local teams across the country in a phased way to ‘go live’ systematically
Key issues – Preventing and mitigating disproportionate impacts,
communication and engagement, supporting schools and higher education
London cases are doubling every day, however testing has increased over the
last few weeks
There had been no COVID deaths in the past few weeks but as cases
continue to rise the disease would spread to more vulnerable members of the
community
There is a Home Care testing plan in place and staff are tested on a weekly
basis and residents on a monthly basis
A testing centre is now in place at the Sobell Car Park
There has been small outbreaks in University Halls of Residence, however
universities were being supportive in combating the outbreaks
The Executive Member stated that she wanted to establish an outbreak control
plan and would be seeking input from Members, and encouraged Members to
sign up as Health Champions. Measures also need to be taken to improve
communications and ensure there are safety measures in place in businesses
and appropriate enforcement takes place when necessary
Contact tracing and testing needs to be improved as many residents are
asymptomatic. The effects of isolation on residents also needs to be looked at
If a resident is found to be positive measures also need to be put in place to
support them and the discretionary payment scheme has been modified
3

Page 3

Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - 15 October 2020











Reference was made to the BAME community and health conditions and that
there had been reports of some Housing Associations and other employers
forcing staff to go to work. In addition it was stated that some carers had
expressed concern about the availability of PPE and lack of testing
It was stated that employers were required to carry out risk assessments for
staff and it was felt that this was the best approach to take
Members noted that only care home staff were being regularly tested and it is
hoped that improvements can be introduced in other settings, but there was
not enough capacity to carry out regular routine testing for domiciliary staff . In
response to the question about availability of PPS it was stated that if there
are instances of this these should be reported for investigation, as there are no
shortages at present
It was stated that work also needed to take place with Trade Unions and
community organisations to ensure staff are not scared to self-isolate if
necessary, through fear of loss of pay or redundancy
It was noted that there had only been 2 cases of a positive test for domiciliary
care staff
In response to a question it was noted that there were 8 COVID cases at
present at the Whittington and some were in ICU. Reference was also made to
increased COVID cases at the Royal Free and UCLH
In response to a question the situation in schools if a COVID case is positive
was outlined
It was stated that if a resident went to A&E they would be seen, however they
were encouraged to contact 111 in order to keep hospitals as safe as possible,
and that a ring 111 national promotion is being promoted

The Chair thanked Sue Lukes and Julie Billett for attending

189

ELECTIVE RECOVERY PROGRAMME (ITEM NO. 12)
Paul Sinden, CCG was present and outlined the report
During consideration of the report the following main points were made –








A&E at the height of the pandemic had seen a 50% reduction in the number of
cases, however numbers had now increased to about 80% of normal activity
The intention at NCL is to restore elective surgery to pre-COVID levels. The
process for dealing with elective surgery prioritisation is clinically led, and
maximisation of NHS capacity is the aim. There are longer average waiting
times for surgery than pre-COVID and the Royal Free has the highest waiting
list, however other NHS Trusts were assisting in reducing this
It was noted that an investigation had been carried out on health inequalities
impact on waiting lists, and this could be circulated to the Committee when
completed
There had also been a reduction in GP consultations and these had fallen
from 450000/500000 to around 300000/350000 during the height of the
pandemic
It was stated that COVID has led to increases co-operation between NHS
Trusts and clinical prioritisation taking place
Reference was made to the procedures for A&E paediatric cases and it was
stated that patients would be treated at UCLH, however but transferred to the
Whittington in the event of an emergency and that daily reports were available
and analysed on this
4

Page 4

Health and Care Scrutiny Committee - 15 October 2020

The Chair thanked Paul Sinden for attending

190

MERGER OF CCG'S (ITEM NO. 13)
Frances O’Callaghan and Alexander Smith, NCL were present and outlined the report
During consideration of the report the following main points were made –





In response to a statement that ‘history was repeating itself’ with the changes
in relation to the merger of CCG’s, it was stated that it was agreed that whilst
this appeared to be the case it was felt that the changes would enable
Boroughs to be represented on the Governing Body, and that this was
clinically led. It was felt that the new arrangements would also enable the NCL
to commission more effectively and address health inequalities more
effectively
It was also noted that primary care would also be able to employ differing staff
specialisms, such as social prescribers, pharmacist etc. at practices and this
would reduce workload of GP’s
In response to a question as to GP patients on borough boundaries that may
visit a practice in another borough it was noted that reciprocal arrangements
were in place with other boroughs in respect of such patients

The Chair thanked Frances O’Callaghan and Alexander Smith for attending

191

WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 (ITEM NO. 14)
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

The meeting ended at 9.50 p.m.
Chair

5

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
People Directorate
222 Upper Street, London, N1 1XR
Report of: The Director of People’s Services
Health and Care Scrutiny

Date: 26 November

Delete as appropriate

Ward(s): All
Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Safeguarding adults in Islington in 2019/20 – a review of key
achievements and priorities going forward
1.

Synopsis

1.1

This report sets out highlights and progress of the council’s leadership of adult safeguarding
arrangements in the borough.

1.2

The published Annual Safeguarding Adults Review 2019-20, attached as appendix A, describes this
in more detail.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To receive the Annual Safeguarding Adults Review and the contents of this report
To commend adult social services staff for their commitment to preventing abuse where possible
and responding to concerns of abuse or neglect of vulnerable Islington residents.

3.

Background

3.1

Under the Care Act 2014, Islington Council has a statutory responsibility to lead the borough in
safeguarding adults.

3.2

Key achievements:
 The action plan to implement recommendations and address learning from the Safeguarding
Adults Review (SAR) into the care of Mr Yi was completed. The SAR was commissioned
jointly by the Safeguarding Adults Boards in Islington, Lambeth, Newham and Hackney

Page 7

Page 1 of 5






under Section 44 of the Care Act 2014. Further work to ensure the lessons have been
embedded will continue.
Some board partners recruited to additional posts to support the homelessness crisis.
Additional grants allowed Islington council to open up winter shelters providing additional
bed spaces for rough sleepers.
Our service user and carer subgroup continues to run successfully and is positively
influencing the decisions of the Safeguarding Adults Board.
During Safeguarding Awareness month in June, we held a series of events with pop-up
information stalls at various places in the borough.
Having been selected by the Office of the Public Guardian (OPG) to pilot a scheme to raise
awareness in the borough around Lasting Powers of Attorney in 2018, we continued this
work in 2019-20. Lasting Powers of Attorney are an important preventative protection
against financial and other types of abuse for people who lose the ability to make decisions
about their finances, health and wellbeing.

The annual report further details progress on delivering the first year of Islington Safeguarding
Adults Board’s 3-year strategy and annual plan (2018-2021). The strategy has been aligned with
those of the Safeguarding Adults Boards in the North Central London cluster (Enfield, Haringey,
Camden and Barnet). The Boards within the cluster collaborated where it makes sense to do so,
such as holding a joint Challenge event around Board assurance work.

3.3

The review compares the statistics from 2019/20 with the previous year 2018/19. There has been
a decrease in safeguarding adults concerns on the previous year (from 3,724 to 3,228). We are not
sure about the reasons for this but we have noticed some variation in the number of safeguarding
concerns reported to us each year depends on how much safeguarding has been in national media
headlines.
Safeguarding enquiries (carried out under Section 42 of the Care Act 2014) have decreased since
last year (from 435 to 371). This means that in roughly 9 out of 10 cases people we were worried
about, when we looked into it we decided not to progress it to a formal safeguarding enquiry. We
continue to carry out regular case file audits to make sure that thresholds are being applied
appropriately and proportionately by practitioners.

3.4

The three most common types of abuse in Islington during the last year were neglect, financial and
psychological abuse. The pattern for financial abuse and neglect has been noted in previous
years. For example, the proportion of neglect cases at 28% remains similar to last year’s at 30%.

3.5

The number of safeguarding concerns about modern slavery or sexual exploitation of adults with
care and support needs remains low. We are working to raise awareness of these types of abuse.
Our recording systems have also been modified so that it is easier to collect data and monitor
trends in these fairly new types of abuse. As the signs of modern slavery and sexual exploitation
can be hard to spot, the Board will continue to raise awareness about these hidden types of abuse.

3.6

During the year, the Board’s subgroup did not consider any case met the threshold for a
Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) under Section 44 of the Care Act 2014. The SAR that was
conducted and published during the previous year, related to Mr Yi. The Board worked on the
action plan to implement recommendations and address learning arising from the Yi SAR.

3.7

Key national developments

Page 8

Page 2 of 5








4.1

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the implementation of the Liberty Protection Safeguards
have been postponed to 2021 by the government. We continue to be one of the few local
authorities with no backlogs on Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and are well-placed to
transition smoothly into the new law.
The Covid-19 pandemic has brought challenges and risks for adults with care and support
needs and the services supporting them. We will be focusing on seeking assurance that our
partners are mitigating those safeguarding risks over the coming year.
Restraint & seclusion gained public attention following a BBC expose of the treatment of
‘Beth’ who was kept in solitary confinement in an assessment and treatment unit elsewhere
in the country. In response, various regulators are now including this aspect in their
monitoring regimes.
Taking action against human trafficking and modern slavery continues to be a top priority
nationally and internationally.

Financial Implications:
The Safeguarding Adults Unit’s 2019/20 gross expenditure outturn was £1,206K. £39K was
contributed by the following organisations:
-

£22K North Central London Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) for Quarter 1. After this, it
was agreed that the CCG would no longer contribute to the Safeguarding service.
£6K from Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
£5K was received from Whittington Health Trust
£5K London Metropolitan Police towards the Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
£1K London Fire Brigade towards the Islington Safeguarding Adults Board

The Safeguarding Adults Unit’s 2020/21 gross expenditure budget is £1,358K.
There are no financial implications for arising as a direct result of this report.

4.2

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications arising as a direct result of the SAB annual report. The report has
been prepared in accordance with the Council’s statutory duty under the Care Act, Schedule 2
(Safeguarding Adults Boards) which requires the SAB to as soon as feasible after the end of each
financial year publish an annual report on the matters specified at paragraph 4 of the Schedule.
Paragraph 4.1 (a – g) of Schedule 2, Care Act 2014 details the type of information which must be
included with the SAB annual report; this includes details of what it had done that year to achieve
its objectives; what it has done during that year to implement its strategy; what each member has
done during that year to implement the strategy; the findings of the reviews arranged by it under
section 44 (safeguarding adults reviews) which have concluded in that year (whether or not they
began in that year); the reviews which are ongoing in that year (whether or not they began in that
year); what it has done during that year to implement the findings of reviews arranged by it; where it
decides not to implement a finding of a review arranged by it, the reasons for this decision.
When finalised, the SAB is under a duty to send a copy of the report to various
individuals/organisations including the Chief Executive, leader of the local authority; the local
policing body; the Local Healthwatch organisation and the Chair of the Health and Well-being
Board (paragraph 4.2.(a-d), Schedule 2, Care Act 2014.

Page 9

Page 3 of 5

4.3

Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon
Islington by 2030:
There are no major environmental impacts associated with the Safeguarding Adults Board. Minor
impacts such as transport-related emissions and office-based resource usage (energy, paper etc)
are managed by staff by actions including not printing documents unless absolutely necessary,
using video-conferencing and encouraging walking, cycling and the use of public transport. Some
work has the potential to benefit the environment, such as reducing fire risk or referring service
users to the SHINE service, which gives advice to residents on saving energy.

4.4

Resident Impact Assessment:
Please retain this standard paragraph and add relevant text about specific impacts
and mitigation below:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not
share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to
remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of
disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The council must
have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.
Appendix B of the full Islington Safeguarding Adults Board annual review (Attached as Appendix A
of this report) which sets out the equalities impact of our work to safeguard adults.

5.

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

5.1

The annual safeguarding review sets out the main achievements in safeguarding vulnerable and
disabled adults in Islington and details our aims for achieving our strategy and annual plan.

Appendices
Appendix A: Islington Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Review 2019-20
Appendix B: Islington Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Review 2019-20 summary
Background papers:


Supporting Adults at risk in need of accommodation based support - Report into the Safeguarding
Adults Review of Mr Yi - Prepared by Fiona Bateman, Independent Author - November 2018
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/publicrecords/adultcareservices/information/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190823yisarreportaugfi
nal.pdf

Signed by:

Page 10

Page 4 of 5

Carmel Littleton
Corporate Director, People

Date

11 November 2020

Report Author: Elaine Oxley, Head of Safeguarding Adults
Tel:
0207 527 8180
Email:
Elaine.Oxley@islington.gov.uk
Financial Implications Author:
Tel:
Email:

Charlotte Brown, Finance Manager Adult Social Care
0207 527 2687
Charlotte.Brown@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author:
Stephanie Broomfield, Principal Lawyer, Islington Council
Tel:
0207 527 3380
Email:
Stephanie.Broomfield@islington.gov.uk
------------------ ---------------------- ---------------------- -------------------------- --------------------- ----------

Page 11

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Islington
Safeguarding
Adults
Partnership
A Safer Islington
Annual review 2019-20

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 13

1

Foreword
continued its regular monitoring of actions arising
from mortality reviews related to adults with
learning disabilities conducted within the national
LeDeR programme and of actions by provider
partners in response to CQC inspections.

I am pleased to be presenting the Annual Report
for 2019/20 covering the second year of our current
three-year strategy. This is the fourth annual report
in my tenure as Chair of Islington’s SAPB. This
report seeks to inform Islington’s residents and the
organisations serving them about the activities of
the Board, the work of its sub groups and of its
partner providers to advance the wellbeing and
safety of adults at risk in Islington.
Our Board is composed of a diverse group of
partner providers in the health, care, justice,
housing, voluntary and emergency services who
engage with adults in need. As in previous years
the Board continues to experience changes in its
membership and I extend my appreciation for the
contributions of all its members to its safeguarding
endeavours. With training and awareness raising,
we continue to encourage people to raise their
safeguarding concerns and referrals continue to
increase.
The coronavirus pandemic has exposed and
brought to prominence the vulnerabilities in the
social care sector that have existed for many years
reasserting the necessity for increased vigilance by
Health and Social Care Commissioners to ensure
that high standards of safeguarding practices in the
provider sector are consistently achieved.
The achievements of the Board in the last year are
set out fully in this report and they include work to
complete the action plans arising from the Serious
Adults Reviews in the cases of Ms BB & Ms CC
and of Mr Yi. Serious Adult Reviews into the cases
of UU and VV were published. Work continued to
sustain improvements in safeguarding in Islington’s
care homes and in preparation for the introduction
of Liberty Protection Safeguards. The Board

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Through the Safer Islington Partnership a modern
slavery board has been established and meets
quarterly to drive action to reduce levels of
exploitation of vulnerable adults. Additional funding
was secured to enhance support programmes for
homeless people particularly through the winter
period.
Congratulations to Jo Holloway, Islington Council
and Theresa Renwick, Whittington Health, for
jointly developing the innovative “Why MCA”
training course to bridge the gap between Mental
Capacity Act theory and practice, which was
shortlisted for the “Best Educational Programme for
the NHS” award.
Following an impactful presentation to the Board
about tackling gang and exploitation of vulnerable
young people, at its annual challenge event it
decided that for 2020/21 to prioritise work with the
Children’s Safety Partnership and Safer Islington
Partnership reducing the risks of exploitation for
vulnerable 16 to 26 year olds. Other priorities
included re-energising the Prevention & Learning
subgroup.
Our thanks go to the chairs of our sub groups and
to Eleanor Fiske, our Board Manager, Sobia
Masood, Board Officer and Afsa Ahmed,
Administrator, for their supporting the work of the
Board. Thanks also to the Council and Health
commissioners who continue to resource the
Board’s work. Safeguarding adults at risk in our
community is everybody’s business and the
gratitude of the Board is extended to all members
of the public and professionals who continue to
report and act upon safeguarding concerns.
James A. Reilly
Independent Chair
July 2020

Page 14
2

Contents table
Contents table ........................................................................................................ 3
About us ................................................................................................................. 4
Introduction .......................................................................................................... 5
Safeguarding in the headlines ...................................................................... 5
You said, we did.................................................................................................... 7
Community outreach................................................................................... 7
About our strategy ............................................................................................... 8
Partnership working ............................................................................................ 9
Subgroups............................................................................................................ 13
Experiences and Statistics ................................................................................ 15
1.
Experiences ......................................................................................15
2.

Statistics...........................................................................................15

3.

Safeguarding Concerns ......................................................................15

4.

Safeguarding enquiries ......................................................................15

5.

Safeguarding concerns to enquiries ‘conversion rate’ ............................16

6.

Types of abuse .................................................................................19

7.

Where abuse took place ....................................................................21

8.

Action we took ..................................................................................22

9.

The impact of safeguarding ................................................................24

10.

Making safeguarding personal ............................................................25

11.

Safeguarding Adults Reviews..............................................................26

12.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards .......................................................27

13.

Lasting Power of Attorney ..................................................................30

Next steps............................................................................................................. 31
Appendix A Making sure we safeguard everyone ................................................. 31
Appendix B How the partnership board fits in ....................................................... 31
Appendix C Who attended our board meetings..................................................... 31
Appendix D Our resources.................................................................................... 31
Appendix E Our impact on the environment…………….……………………………..40
Appendix F Jargon Buster………………………………………….……………………41
Appendix G What should I do if I suspect abuse………………………..…………….42

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 15

3

About us
We are a partnership of
organisations in Islington all
committed to achieving better
safeguarding for adults.
All our work is centred on
safeguarding adults with care and
support needs from any kind of
abuse and neglect.

Who makes up the
partnership?

Safer Islington Partnership – Jan Hart, Service
Director for Public Protection, Islington Council

Age UK Islington – Michael O’Dwyer, Head of
Service

Islington Council – Carmel Littleton, Director for
People’s Services

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust –
Dean Howells, Director of Nursing

Islington Safeguarding Children Board –
Wynand McDonald, Board Manager

Camden and Islington Probation Service –
Mary Pilgrim, Senior Probation Officer

London Ambulance Service NHS Foundation
Trust, Islington – Patrick Brooks, Community
Involvement Officer

Care Quality Commission – Duncan Paterson,
Inspection Manager
Community Rehabilitation Company- Kauser
Mukhtar, Acting Assistant Chief Officer
Crown Prosecution Service – Borough
Prosecutor
Healthwatch Islington– Chief Executive, Emma
Whitby
HMP Pentonville, Head of Operations

London Fire Brigade, Islington – Gary Squires,
Borough Commander
Metropolitan Police, Islington – Jane Topping,
Detective Superintendent
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust –
Tracy Luckett, Director of Nursing & Allied
Health Professionals
Notting Hill Pathways – Irina Goodluck –
Operations Manager

Independent Chair – James Reilly

Single Homeless Project – Liz Rutherfoord,
Chief Executive

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group –
Jenny Williams, Director of Nursing and
Quality

Voluntary Action Islington – Anthony Bewick
Smith, Chief Executive

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group - Dr
Deepak Hora, Named GP for Safeguarding

Whittington Health NHS Trust – Breeda
McManus, Deputy Chief Nurse

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 16

4

Introduction
This review looks at what we, the
Islington Safeguarding Adults Board,
have done in the last year to safeguard
adults in Islington.
Our work centres on helping adults
most at risk. Anyone can be
vulnerable to abuse or neglect. But
adults with care and support needs
may need help and support to keep
safe.

Safeguarding in the headlines
Safeguarding adults is an evolving subject. It is
often in the news in one form or another.
Sometimes it is led by widespread public concern
about a particular facet of abuse, neglect or a
human rights violation. Other times, the headlines
are generated by government policy initiatives or
developments in judicial case law. We constantly
monitor developments and public perception of
safeguarding and this in turn influences the work
we focus on the next year. Below are some of the
key media themes from the past year.
Homelessness was scarcely been out of the
headlines in the last year. The continued rise in
rough sleeping on London streets has been
noticed by many residents and much remarked on
in national and local press.
More worryingly, on average 11 people homeless
people die a week in England and Wales.
It is estimated that up to a third of homeless
deaths were from treatable conditions that could
have improved with the right medical care.
Homelessness has been linked to many
safeguarding risks, such as self-neglect and for
this reason, we continue to keep homelessness as

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

a focus in board meetings and raise it at national
and regional levels.
We saw emerging evidence of homeless people
becoming victims of modern slavery. They can be
exploited by international traffickers, often ending
up on the streets with no recourse to public funds.
Others already living rough on the streets are
targeted by unethical employers who exploit their
vulnerabilities.
In recent years, great strides have been made in
identifying and addressing modern slavery.
However, as a report to the United Nations Human
Rights Committee notes, there remain significant
gaps. Tensions with immigration and drugs
legislation means that many vulnerable victims are
still criminalised. Others are not identified and fall
through the cracks and not safeguarded.
In the last year, restraint and seclusion have
become areas of focus for several national bodies
such as the Care Quality Commission and Ofsted.
Following a BBC expose of the treatment of ‘Beth’,
a teenager who was kept in solitary confinement
and fed through a hatch in the door in a privatelyrun assessment and treatment unit (ATU), the
government ordered a review of long-term
seclusion and segregation. Sadly, over the years,

Page 17

5

there have been many other media reports of
physical restraint, wrongful use of medication and
frequent use of lengthy periods of solitary
confinement.
The reviews have highlighted the lack of data
about the use of restraint and seclusion in a
variety of settings such as colleges, hospitals and
care homes. Without such data, it is impossible to
know whether restraint and seclusion are being
used proportionately, whether people’s human
rights are being violated and what the trends are.

restrictions would require services to flex and
respond swiftly to support adults with care and
support needs, all the while keeping their safety
and wellbeing at the fore. The challenges ahead
for safeguarding and upholding people’s human
rights were becoming evident.
With the Care Quality Commission suspending
inspections and abuse and neglect in many
settings predicted to rise, the role of Safeguarding
Adults Boards has never been more important.

The Equality & Human Rights Commission also
funded a successful legal challenge against the
Ministry of Justice’s proposal to use a chemical
restraint spray against prisoners with care and
support needs. This shift towards a human rights
approach to restraint and seclusion in a wide
range of settings is much needed.
Domestic violence continues to be a focus for
the government with the first Domestic Abuse
Commissioner appointed. Also, the Domestic
Abuse Bill has been introduced to parliament and
is expected to come into effect in late 2020 or
early 2021. The Bill aims to transform the
response to domestic abuse, helping to prevent
offending, protect victims and ensure they have
the support they need.
Also introduced to parliament in March 2020 was
the Fire Safety Bill, which builds on action
already taken to ensure that people feel safe in
their homes, and a tragedy like the Grenfell Tower
fire never happens again. Of particular relevance
to safeguarding adults are the proposed measures
to ensure personal evacuation plans are in place
for residents whose ability to evacuate may be
compromised.
Covid-19 (Coronavirus)
In the final weeks of the year under review, the
Covid-19 pandemic started to take effect and
national lockdown was announced. Even at that
early stage, it was clear that Covid-19 and the

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 18

6

You said, we did
We listened to what you had to say.
You asked us to do more to raise
awareness about safeguarding adults
and seek out people who might be
harder to reach.
So, we dedicate the month of June to
raising awareness about adult abuse
and neglect at various places in the
borough.

Community outreach
The benefits of holding events in the community are
two-fold. Firstly, they allow us to share information
and advice about how to spot abuse and neglect and
where to report it. Secondly, community events give
us the opportunity to listen and help to keep us
focused on what matters most to residents. This
allows positive change in both directions.
Through face-to-face conversations with local
people, we raise awareness about how to spot adult
abuse and neglect and what to do about it. Given
the opportunity to discuss abuse and neglect, people
often open up and share concerns about themselves
or a family member.
Over a cup tea or through an interactive drama
group session, we explore concepts about dignity
and wellbeing in an accessible way with local
residents. A service user drama group called Your
Life, Your Say delivered a powerful scenario-based
play on Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) at the
service users and carers safeguarding conference.
The discussions generated from the drama session
help to refine people’s understanding about
safeguarding concepts such person-centred care,
dignity, mental capacity and deprivation of liberty.

impact on people’s awareness and understanding of
abuse and neglect.
Safeguarding awareness events were held at
 Highbury and NewPark open day
 Islington Carers Hub - Carers Week – Opening
event at Islington Town Hall
 Elfrida Society- for their User led monitoring
group who visit residential homes for adults
with learning disabilities
 Service user and carer safeguarding conference
Community events are just one of the ways we raise
awareness about abuse and neglect. Information is
also shared electronically with members of the
community. This keeps involved people who may
not often leave their homes for various reasons. It
also helps us keep them up to date with any current
issues such as information about local telephone or
internet scams helping us to keep them safe.

Although resource and time intensive, these
community outreach activities can have a lasting

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 19

7

About our strategy
Good intentions are not enough to
make a difference. A plan of action is
needed.
This section gives an overview of our
three-year strategy to safeguard
adults in Islington. Our strategy sets
our long-term direction and fulfils our
vision.

Protection and proportionality

Aligned strategy

No adult with care and support needs should live in
fear of abuse or neglect. This simple vision
underpins our strategy, together with the six pillars
of safeguarding set out in the Care Act guidance,
namely:
- Empowerment
- Protection
- Proportionality
- Accountability
- Prevention
- Partnership

It’s important that we prevent abuse and neglect,
stop it quickly when it happens and do so in a
proportionate way. By working together to share
information and intelligence, we are able to take
steps to protect adults with care and support needs.

Our current 3-year strategy is aligned with that of
the four other Safeguarding Adults Boards in the
North Central London area (Camden, Barnet,
Haringey and Enfield). Through this aligned strategy
we are able to focus on the same broad objectives,
but with flexibility for each Board to tailor its own
annual delivery plan according to local need.

Prevention

Empowerment

Partnership

We recognise that protection is only one of the
things that adults want for themselves – and they
may have other priorities. Adults with care and
support needs must be both involved and heard in
safeguarding.
This applies as much to each
safeguarding case is it does to the way that each of
our partners engages with safeguarding at a
strategic level. And it also applies to us as a
Safeguarding Adults Board.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Accountability
Each organisation in our partnership is accountable
for the way it safeguards adults with care and
support needs.
But we are also accountable
together as a partnership. That’s why we publish this
report.
Multi-pronged, co-ordinated effort over a long time
is needed to effect a culture change around the
safety and well-being of adults with care and
support needs. Prevention is woven into our main
strategy and forms a core part of the work of all our
Board subgroups.
A successful partnership requires good teamwork.
Without the energy, commitment and enthusiasm of
our partner organisations, we could not achieve the
objectives of our strategies. For their time, energy
and resources, we sincerely thank our partner
organisations. Their specific achievements towards
our strategic goals are set out in the next section.

Page 20

8

Partnership working
Although Islington Council leads on
safeguarding adults in Islington, all of
our partners are expected to, and do,
contribute to our North Central
London aligned strategy.
This section sets out how our partners
have gone about achieving our
strategic aims through a wide range
of actions.
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
 The CCG is amending and updating its
managing allegations against staff policy to
make it relevant to adult safeguarding.




A homelessness training session was delivered
by Islington housing manager to the Moorfields
Safeguarding Adults Committee.



Homelessness briefing sessions were delivered
at Senior Nurses meeting & A&E team
meeting.



Homelessness information & updates included
in safeguarding newsletter.



Training has been delivered to safeguarding
champions. Increased awareness of carer need
& carer support available through holding an
information stall during Carers Week for
patients, carers, family & staff. CarersUK
attended and provided leaflets & literature to
improve awareness of support provided by
specialist external agencies

A pressure ulcer leaflet is being shared by staff
with carers.

London Metropolitan Police
 An internal review has been conducted for
capability of MHT for early intervention,
partnership and preventative work. The SIM
project is currently embedded with the Mental
Health Trust. Success will show a reduction in
demand across the MPS and the partnership.




Training in relation to referrals into advocacy
services is now incorporated into the
Safeguarding courses. This is supplemented by
local awareness refreshers.
Any learning from Safeguarding Adults
Reviews relevant to police is being
disseminated and current practice reviewed for
opportunities to embed learning. This is shared
with their Learning and development team.

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust
 Staff have been made aware of risk, complex
need and duty to refer and provide information
and support to homeless patients.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

London Fire Brigade (LFB)
 LFB continue to raise safeguarding referrals
with Islington Adult and child services.


The delivery of the information sharing project
with the London Ambulance Service to provide
Home Fire Safety Visits to high risk hoarders,
has been embedded into core business.



LFB has developed a training package for all
personnel which features the ‘Making
Safeguarding Personal’ principle. The training
also provides staff with a clear working
understanding of the Mental Capacity Act. The
package complies with both the Care Act and
London multi-agency policy and procedures,

Page 21

9

and ensures all LFB personnel receive initial
and regular refresher safeguarding training.


LFB is working towards developing a dedicated
safeguarding area on their intranet to help
disseminate learning from Safeguarding Adults
Reviews and highlight best practice.

Camden & Islington Mental Health
Foundation Trust
 C&I are in the process of building the
Safeguarding Hub. A Head of Nursing has
been appointed to manage the Hub and a
Safeguarding Practitioner will be in post from
the end of September 2019.


C&I have completed a deep dive exercise of
sexual safety concerns across the in-patient
facilities of the Trust. From this a half day
Conference/Workshop was organised where
all partner agencies were represented. The
outcome of this is that a Sexual Safety Policy
has been developed and agreed by the Trust.
Sexual Safety matters are now reported on a
quarterly basis to the Trust Safeguarding
Committee.



C&I now includes homelessness and rough
sleeping as a safeguarding issue in its
Induction and Core Skills safeguarding
training.



C&I hosts two White Ribbon conference
events each year.



C&I have increased awareness about
advocacy services through engagement with
the Pathfinder Project and recruitment of
IDVAs regarding safeguarding and domestic
violence





The key findings from SARs, DHRs and SCRs
are incorporated into the Trust Induction and
Core Skills safeguarding training. A twice
yearly Trust Safeguarding Newsletter will
feature the key lessons learned.



C&I provides targeted safeguarding training
across the Intercollegiate Document Guidance
Levels and competence framework.

Islington Council


Safeguarding Adults Unit together with
Whittington Health and other agencies were
shortlisted for the “Best Educational
Programme for the NHS” award. This
innovative training course titled “Why MCA”
was developed to bridge the gap between
theory and practice. Using actors, the course
allows practitioners to have a go at completing
a capacity assessment in an interactive,
supportive way. Feedback from the
participants consistently rated the training
course as excellent and participants felt that
the simulated capacity assessment was very
beneficial for developing their skills.



The RADAR meeting meets monthly and is
very well attended by staff from Adult Social
Care, Commissioning and Contract Monitoring
teams and partners from the CCG and Mental
Health Trust. Serious provider concerns are
escalated with consistency, quickly and
appropriately within the department to ensure
that rapid safeguarding measures are
implemented.



Information, learning from reviews and
changes to practice and policy is disseminated
to staff across ASC and the Mental Health
Trust at a range of professionals’ forum and
workshops. In addition to our standard learning
and development offer bespoke training has
been devised and delivered by the
Safeguarding Adults Unit on a number areas
related to the Mental Capacity Act. Bespoke
training will be rolled out from November 2019
on Making Safeguarding Personal.

C&I are moving towards ensuring all registered
clinical practitioners are able to express a legal
literacy when managing safeguarding and
MCA & DoLS concerns. There is an
escalation process for accessing legal advice
on a timely basis

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 22

10



A multi-agency Modern Day Slavery board has
been created. A TOR and action plan have
been drafted and the board meets quarterly,
reporting into the SIP



The service user and carer subgroup of the
Safeguarding adults board continues to meet
regularly and is positively influencing the
themes for the board. The group comprises
service users and carers with a range of
needs.



Staff from the Safeguarding Adults Unit (SAU)
have attended meetings of the Learning
Disabilities Partnership Board and meeting of
residents and relatives in some care homes in
Islington to ensure they hear about the
experiences of people who have required
support with safeguarding.



The SAU continued to undertake audits of
safeguarding work across the department to
ensure prompt feedback is given to
practitioners and teams.







Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Questions have also been specifically
introduced in the basic custody screening tool
regarding safeguarding and social care needs.



Broader issues regarding health and social
care provision in prisons have continued to be
raised at relevant regional and national forums.

Nottinghill Housing Group


The Head of Safeguarding Adults worked
closely with the Principle Social Worker to
align Making Safeguarding Personal with
Strengths Based Practice in social work teams
across Islington.

Acknowledging the high levels of churn
through Pentonville reception, awareness
materials were developed by their equalities
team and placed into each interview area



Single Homeless Project (SHP)
 SHP has a Community of Practice Group
which has been designing extra resources for
managers who manage their safeguarding
concerns and referrals.
 Managers are being given the responsibility of
safeguarding ‘champions’.

SAU also undertook case file audits to ensure
that areas for improvement are highlighted and
best practice celebrated. This ensures that
safeguarding enquiries are compliant with s42
of the Care Act, the Pan London Safeguarding
Adults Policy and Procedures and are
demonstrating the values and practices of
Making Safeguarding Personal.

HMP Pentonville
 Continued to deliver training towards their
safety priorities, which included Suicide and
Self Harm training for staff.

which provide a visually eye catching
reference point with information on how to
raise safeguarding concerns.

Safeguarding Workshops have been held
for customers and their families and
‘Awareness Weeks’ on a range of subjects

Healthwatch
 Healthwatch has taken the safeguarding
adults leaflets to various events to promote
awareness raising across the community.
Whittington Health NHS Trust
 Whittington Health led on delivering training
around use of the Mental Capacity Act with
the Islington Council Safeguarding Adults
Unit and other agencies. The innovative
training entitled “Why MCA” was shortlisted
for the Health Service Journal’s “Best
Educational Programme for the NHS”
award. The course was developed to
bridge the gap between theory and practice.


Page 23

Has continued to promote the use of
advocates for both safeguarding adults and
mental capacity matters. They have
continued to highlight advocacy with teams,

11



and it has been a part of safeguarding adult
training and case discussions.

Health partners of the Safeguarding Adults Board
have also published their annual reports for
2019/20 which can be found here:

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews
has been included in safeguarding adult
training and case discussions. In addition,
learning was disseminated across the Trust
via patient safety bulletins. Bespoke
sessions and learning events were held for
some services.

Whittington Health NHS Trust
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group



Making Safeguarding Personal was an
integral part of all safeguarding adult
training.

Islington Health and Well-being Board has
oversight of this Safeguarding Adults Board annual
report. Further information about democratic
services can be found here.



The views of patients were included in
safeguarding adult referrals where possible

Summary

Voluntary Action Islington


VAI met with Independent Chair and key
LBI colleagues to outline channels available
for promoting safeguarding adults to the
third sector.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

The above specific achievements by no means
represent all that partners have achieved towards
safeguarding adults. For many of our partner
organisations, safeguarding adults is routine and
core to their every-day work.

Page 24

12

Subgroups
While the Board oversees the
implementation of its strategy, the
subgroups carried out much of the actual
work. They are the engines behind the
Board.
This section sets out the work and
achievements of each subgroup.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
North Central London
task & finish groups

Safeguarding
Adults Review
(SAR)
subgroup

Safeguarding Adults Review subgroup

Quality, Audit
& Assurance
(QAA)
subgroup

Prevention &
Learning
(P&L)
subgroup

Service User
& Carer
(SU&C)
subgroup

Quality, Audit & Assurance subgroup

During the year, the subgroup considered four cases. None of
them met the thresholds and criteria for a full Section 44
Safeguarding Adults Review under the Care Act 2014.
One case was referred for a single agency appreciative
enquiry. Another case was referred for a Domestic Homicide
Review. A case, known as ‘EE’, involved serious neglect of an
adult by an informal carer. It was agreed a multi-agency
reflective workshop would held to ensure lessons were learnt
and learning embedded. At the time of writing this report, the
review had not yet been held.

The QAA subgroup continues to support the Board in
providing a strategic overview of the quality of safeguarding
activity within Islington. We have met quarterly, with
representation from core partners and assurance provided
from a number of partners.

The subgroup also oversaw implementation and completion of
the action plan arising from the 2018 Yi Safeguarding Adults
Review.

During the year we have improved the information that is
collected in relation to safeguarding adults to encourage
further professional debate, challenge and learning. This has
been achieved through adopting a shared dashboard
reporting system.
 The QAA has agreed to focus on three areas
 The Mental Capacity Act
 Making Safeguarding personnel
 Learning from SARs

DCI Brian Hobbs
Chair, Safeguarding Adults Review subgroup

David Pennington
Chair, Quality Audit & Assurance subgroup

Service User & Carer subgroup

Prevention & Learning subgroup

A small, but committed group of service users, carers and
advocates generously give their time to inform the work of
the safeguarding adults board. Together, their expertise is
invaluable when consulting them about how to improve
services for adults with care and support needs.
The group is evolving towards setting its own direction and
expressing views on a range of topics with confidence.
Discussions have been wide-ranging and have included:
 Homelessness
 Making safeguarding personal
 Fire safety for disabled people.
Topics and the theme of the annual service user & carer
conference were suggested by this group.
Eleanor Fiske
Chair, Service User & Carer subgroup

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

This newly-formed group only had one meeting before the
end of the 2019-20 year. The group has been working on
setting its terms of reference and defining its remit clearly.
Over the next year, the group will be working towards
meeting the Board’s strategic objectives around embedding
learning from serious cases with the aim of preventing future
similar cases occurring again.
The group will also work to identify gaps in partner
organisations’ learning and development activity and where
necessary, make recommendations to the Board to address
those gaps.
Tracy Luckett
Chair, Prevention & Learning subgroup

Page 25

13

North Central London (NCL)
Task and Finish groups

2.

As part of our aligned strategies, we have been
extending our focus to build better working
relationships with our neighbouring boroughs to
promote consistency of practice across the area.
Work has been carried out through the North
Central London (NCL) cluster involving the London
Boroughs of Camden, Haringey, Barnet and Enfield
safeguarding adults boards.

NCL Learning and culture change task
and finish group.
This group was led by Camden and Haringey.
It focused on preparation for the anticipated
Liberty Protection Safeguards and
harmonising practice across the north central
London area.

3.

NCL Audit and Assurance task and finish
group.
This group was led by Enfield and Barnet.
Their key achievement was a highly-focused
in-depth audit of refusal of medical treatment
cases which compared practice across the
five boroughs in north central London.
Learning from this audit has been shared to
improve practice.

Three joint task and finish groups were set up as
follows.

1.

NCL Prevention task and finish group.
This group was led by Islington and Barnet.
Its focus was on working with the Office of
the Public Guardian to raise awareness
among the general public about Lasting
Powers of Attorney.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

These task and finish groups, having achieved their
aims for the year, have now been concluded.

Page 26

14

Experiences and Statistics
The human cost of abuse and neglect
cannot be measured. The statistics
that we collect only tell part of the
story and this should be borne in mind
when looking at our data.
But statistics are useful for pinpointing
our strengths and highlighting areas
for further analysis or development.

with care and support needs are safeguarded in a
range

1. Experiences
No statistic can capture the trauma and impact of
abuse, neglect and self-neglect. That’s why it’s
important we look behind the statistics at the
human experience. We do this in a number of
ways – through auditing case files, seeking
feedback from people after a safeguarding case
has been closed, analysing complaints and
engaging with the public.

of settings, such as police cells and hospitals. We
will continue to work with our partner
organisations to share data in a transparent and
secure way. Only through shared aggregate data
can we get a clearer picture of abuse and neglect
trends and activity across the borough.

Listening closely to our service user and carer
subgroup is also invaluable. Through their
willingness to talk candidly about their
experiences, we are able to reflect on and improve
our practice across the partnership.

3.

Safeguarding Concerns

When someone reports a concern about abuse or
neglect of an adult with care and support needs, it
is known as a ‘safeguarding concern’.

2. Statistics

During the year we had 3,228 safeguarding
concerns reported to us, compared with 3,724 in
2018/19 and 3,618 in 2017/18.

Some people experience multiple forms of
discrimination and disadvantage or additional
barriers to accessing support. As in previous
years, we continue to monitor data on various
groups to ensure that the needs of all victims are
met and that no group is being overlooked.

4.

This year’s report contains data captured only by
Islington Council. It is important, however, that
we monitor statistics and trends from a variety of
sources. This is to assure ourselves that adults

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Safeguarding enquiries

In 2019/20 we had 371 safeguarding enquiries
(11% of the total concerns raised). Of these 371
enquiries, 348 were carried out as safeguarding
enquiries under Section 42 of the Care Act 2014.
A further 23 enquiries were looked into under
another type of safeguarding enquiry. It may turn

Page 27

15

out that the Section 42 duty is not triggered
because the concern does not meet the statutory
criteria, but practitioners are not comfortable with
the level of risk so a non-statutory safeguarding
enquiry is carried out.

Even when we don’t go ahead with a Section 42
enquiry, every point of interaction with a victim
offers an opportunity for positive intervention and
a chance to give support. We frequently signpost
those people to appropriate sources of support.

Case example
Mr ZZ’s * neighbours reported him repeatedly to the police. The neighbours
were frustrated with the level of anti-social behaviour, noise and drug-taking
in his flat. Mr ZZ was at risk of losing his tenancy. An incremental and
supportive approach was taken, but despite warning letters, Mr ZZ was
unable to stick to an anti-social behaviour agreement and breached his
tenancy agreement.
Police and housing partners looked deeper into the situation. After careful
investigation, it became clear that there were safeguarding concerns
because Mr ZZ had physical and mental health needs. It also became
evident that Mr ZZ was being exploited by people who claimed to be his
friends, but who had taken over Mr ZZ’s flat and were using it to
manufacture drugs. This was attracting violent and other criminal activity to
the flat and causing considerable nuisance to the neighbours.
With sensitive exploration of the issues by social workers and housing
colleagues, Mr ZZ admitted that he was scared of the people who had taken
over his flat and wanted them to leave, but he didn’t know how to go about
this. He feared repercussions from his so-called ‘friends’, but was also
worried about being lonely and losing his only social connections.
Through partnership working, legal steps were taken to remove the socalled friends from Mr ZZ’s flat. Mr ZZ is now much happier that he is no
longer at risk of eviction and his neighbours are relieved that the anti-social
behaviour has ended. Social workers have put a befriending service in
place for Mr ZZ and he has been signposted to other sources of social
support so that he can widen his social connections and develop
friendships.
* Names and some details have been changed to preserve anonymity

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 28

16

5. Safeguarding concerns to enquiries ‘conversion rate’
A decrease in safeguarding concerns from
last year but a similar ‘conversion rate’

Previous year (2018-19)

This year (2019-20)

Section 42 Safeguarding enquiry

Section 42 Safeguarding enquiry
Other safeguarding enquiry
No enquiry

348
(11%)

Other safeguarding enquiry

23
(1%)

435
(12%)

0
(0%)

3,289
(88%)

2857
(88%)

* Some of the safeguarding concerns and enquiries shown in the
above charts may have started in the previous year
** Due to rounding, percentages might not add up to 100
During 2019, the Association of Directors of Adult
Social Services (ADASS) in partnership with the
Local Government Association (LGA) produced a
framework to assist local authorities with making
decisions on the duty to carry out Safeguarding
Adults enquiries. The framework was created to
support practice, reporting and recording and to
give local safeguarding adult boards the
opportunity to benchmark against neighbouring
authorities, regionally and nationally.
The framework supports decision-making about
whether or not a reported safeguarding adults
concern requires a statutory enquiry under the
Section 42 duty of the Care Act, 2014 or a nonstatutory response by either the local authority or
other partners.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

The framework
 creates a stronger level of accountability for
decisions taken around safeguarding concerns
 standardises safeguarding adults decision
making and assurance across the country
 supports practice and outcomes for people
that are fair, lawful and reasonable.
For many local authorities, implementation of the
new ADASS/LGA framework has resulted in a
significant change in the ‘conversion rates’ (the
proportion of safeguarding concerns which result in
a statutory safeguarding enquiry under s42 of the
Care Act). Those local authorities had been
reporting very high conversion rates in the past
and have now seen a sharp drop in their
conversion rates from previous years. In Islington

Page 29

17

we had interpreted the Care Act in line with the
framework all along. So, our conversion rates at
11 - 12%, although appearing low initially, are now
considered to be at an appropriate level.
Under the framework, outcomes of statutory
enquiries can be referrals to other organisations,
such as the Camden and Islington Mental Health
Trust or a non-statutory response from the council
or another organisation.
The only additional work required by us was some
training for staff to ensure they understood the
new framework and were implementing it
correctly. We are carrying out case file audits and
workshops for social workers around safeguarding

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

adults in order to ensure that the decision-making
processes are well evidenced and that people who
have experienced harm and abuse have their risks
reduced or removed. We continually reflect on our
application of the ADASS/LGA framework and
respond to any support or training needs that our
social workers may have.
At the time of publishing this report, the national
data for 2019/20 has not been published so it is
not yet possible to benchmark our data against
that of other areas. The national data for the
previous year 2018/19 is available on the NHS
Digital website.

Page 30

18

6.

Types of abuse

The different types of abuse about which we made safeguarding enquiries during 2019-20 are shown in the
chart below. When we look into a safeguarding concern about an adult, we often discover there is more than
one type of abuse taking place.

Enquiries by type of abuse, section 42 and other
Discriminatory
Abuse
0.3%

Sexual Abuse
2%

Sexual Exploitation
1%

Organisational
2%

Domestic Abuse
3%

Self-Neglect
10%

Neglect and Acts
of Omission
28%

Physical Abuse
15%
Financial or
Material Abuse
19%
Psychological
Abuse
19%

The chart above shows that over the course of the 2019-20 year, the three most common types of abuse we
made enquiries into were neglect, financial abuse and psychological abuse. A broadly similar pattern for the
various types of abuse and neglect have been noted in previous years. For example, the proportion of neglect
cases at 28% remains similar to last year’s at 30%.
Numbers of safeguarding concerns reported to us about modern slavery or sexual exploitation of adults with
care and support needs remain low. We continue to raise awareness of these types of abuse. Our recording

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 31

19

systems have also been modified so that it is easier to collect data and monitor trends in these types of abuse.
The signs of modern slavery and sexual exploitation can be hard to spot; so we will continue to raise
awareness of what to look out for. Islington council continues to provide well-received in-house training on
modern slavery and human trafficking.
We will continue to monitor trends over several years and compare our data with that of similar boroughs in
London to see whether there are any emerging differences that we need to act on.

Feedback on training from participants

Modern Day Slavery training
course:

Safeguarding Adult’s refresher
training course:

“‘Since attending this session I

“Very informative, explicit and
excellent”

have gained a substantial
improvement in my
understanding of recognising the
signs and symptoms on modern
day slavery. The content was
excellent and I will now use the
knowledge I have gained in
interviews and home visits’”

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

“I am glad I attended”
“The trainer was very engaging
and had a great approach”

Page 32

20

7.

Where abuse took place
Number of enquiries by location, section 42 and other
250

Number of enquiries

200

150

100

50

0

200

68

Own Home

Other

57

8
32

14

0

7

*

Care Home Care Home In the
Hospital In a
Hospital - Hospital - Nursing community
Acute
community Mental Community
Residential
(excluding
service
Health
community
services)

* Number too small and potentially disclosive

Location

Abuse and neglect in care homes and hospitals tend to grab headlines. Because of this you might assume
that a lot of abuse and neglect takes place in care homes and hospitals. But, the graph above shows the
opposite – that more than half of all cases of abuse and neglect take place in the person’s own home. This is
not just true in Islington – it’s a similar picture across the country.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 33

21

8.

Action we took
Actions we took to help the adult
2%4%

1%

Risk identified and action taken

9%

Enquiry ceased at individual's
request and no action taken

3%

Risk - Assessment inconclusive
and action taken

6%

No risk identified and no action
taken
Risk identified and no action taken
75%

No risk identified and action taken
Risk - Assessment inconclusive
and no action taken

*Due to the rounding of figures, figures may not total 100%
The graph above is based on the safeguarding enquiries that were closed in 2019-20. In nearly all of the
cases we took some kind of action.
Recording the actions we took for all cases is now a mandatory field in our recording system. We identified
and took action in 75% of the cases, which is a decrease from 82% in the previous year. We will continue
to monitor whether social workers are correctly recording all the protective actions they take in a
safeguarding enquiry. Through case file auditing, we also check that social workers have considered the
full range of protective actions available to the adult.
The most common action is increased monitoring of the adult. Increased monitoring could include family
and friends agreeing to visit an isolated adult more often. Or it could be a community nurse visiting patient
at home regularly to check for pressure sores.
A wide range of other actions were also used. They included referrals to counselling, staff training,
applications to the Court of Protection, change of appointee and restricting access to the person causing
risk. In some cases, the concerns are serious enough for the Police to prosecute or caution the person who
caused harm.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 34

22

In 1% of the cases we took no action. But before reaching the decision to take no action, we would have
assessed the risks and agreed that there was no ongoing risk to the adult.
In 6% of the cases, the adult told us they did not want us to take any action. Wherever possible, we make
safeguarding person-centred and follow their stated wishes. Occasionally, the risks to other people are too
great and we have to take action against someone’s wishes. If this needs to happen, we carefully explain
the reasons for our decision to the adult involved.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 35

23

9.

The impact of safeguarding

The purpose of safeguarding is to help people feel safer. One of the ways we measure this is
by looking at our safeguarding actions to see if we have reduced the risk of future abuse or
neglect happening. The chart below shows that in most cases, our actions have either
removed or reduced the risk of harm.
In only a very few cases the risk remains. Usually this is the adult’s choice. We always check
first that the adult has the mental capacity to make decisions about the risk, is comfortable
with the risk and understands the possible consequences of not taking steps to reduce the
risk. We also factor in risks to other adults or children and whether the person causing harm is
a paid professional.

Impact of Safeguarding

179

Outcome

Risk Reduced

107

Risk Removed

Risk Remained

12
0

50

100

150

200

Number
This graph is based on the number of closed Section 42 enquiries in 2019-20 and not the overall
number of enquiries. This is because some enquiries take longer than others to investigate. We
have excluded any enquiries which were still being investigated at the time of writing this report.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 36

24

10. Making safeguarding personal
Putting the victim first is becoming an important
concept in criminal justice. So, it is also with
safeguarding adults. Person-centred working,
known as ‘Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP)’ is
called for by the Care Act 2014. We’ve been
working with practitioners and board partners to
encourage them to adopt this crucial concept in the
way they work with people at risk of abuse and
neglect.
How do we know that staff are working in a
person-centred way? Statistics alone will never give
a clear picture of whether safeguarding enquiries
have been carried out in a person-centred
way. Only auditing case files and seeking feedback
from people who have been through a
safeguarding enquiry can really tell us. That’s why
our Board’s Quality, Audit & Assurance subgroup
together with our Service User & Carer subgroup
are important mechanisms for overseeing the
implementation of MSP across all partner
organisations.
Islington Council – Adult Social Care has overall
responsibility for all safeguarding enquiries. Adult
Social Care has made changes to its internal
reporting system to ensure that making
safeguarding personal is captured as part of every
enquiry.
At the safeguarding concern stage the adult (or
their representative) is asked whether they want
this concern to progress to a safeguarding enquiry
and what outcome they want from the enquiry.
The concern is also risk assessed and depending
on this, it is progressed to a safeguarding enquiry.

We also record whether we were able to achieve
the adult’s preferred outcome. Our data from
previous years shows us that we need to continue
transforming practice and shifting work cultures to
make our safeguarding work truly personalised. In
the year ahead, we will be working with staff to
explore more ways of enhancing an adult’s choice
and control as part of a safeguarding enquiry.
The previous year’s data shows that we achieved
either fully or partly the adult’s preferred outcomes
from the safeguarding enquiry. It shows that
practice is transforming to keep the adult at the
centre of all we do. People’s preferences are
indeed being taken into account.

We know from research nationally that being safe
is only one of the many things people want for
themselves. They may have other priorities
too. That’s why it’s important we take the person’s
views into account.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

To help us achieve this, every safeguarding enquiry
has a set of seven ‘I’ statements that the adult at
risk (or their representative) is requested to
respond to during and towards the end of the
enquiry. These statements not only address the
issues of safety but also of choice, control, respect
and justice.

Embedding a MSP approach remains a priority for
the year ahead.

Page 37

25

11. Safeguarding Adults Reviews
Sometimes when an adult with care
and support needs has died or been
seriously injured, we question
whether services could have worked
together better to prevent it
happening. If we think that might be
the case, we carry out a safeguarding
adults review (SAR).
SARs are all about learning lessons;
not about blaming people.
Yi SAR Action Plan
The Yi SAR report was published the previous
year and the full report can be found here. The
report identified five key pieces of learning for
us, which formed the basis of the action plan.
These recommendations are depicted on the
right-hand side of this page.

Yi SAR Recommendations

During the year we continued to oversee partner
organisations’ work on the action plan to
address the learning from the Yi SAR case.
Much work has gone into ensuring useful
learning from this review has been completed.
Further work will take place to fully embed
learning into practice to sustain good practice
over the longer-term.

Learning from other reviews
Learning from other types of review, such as
Domestic Homicide Reviews, as well as SARs
from other Boards is shared with our partners.
This ensures learning from other places are
embedded into practice and maintain good
practice.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 38

26

12. Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
All adults should be free to live life as
they want. If someone’s freedom is
restricted or taken away in a hospital
or care home, there are laws and
rules to make sure it is done only
when really necessary and in their
best interests.
The rules are known as Deprivation
of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). We
monitor how these safeguards are
used in Islington.

DoLS Referrals
2019 - 2020
1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0
2013/14

2014/15
Applications

2015/16
Care homes

Hospital

Over the last four years DoLS referrals have
been levelling off and are broadly consistent at
between 90 to 100 referrals per month. DoLs
Referrals were 10% higher than last year
but the number of DoLS authorisations granted
is unchanged.
The majority of DoL referrals (61%) are from
residential care homes. Most referrals are on

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

2016/17
New

2017/18
Renewals

Granted

2018/19

2019/20

Not granted

behalf of residents who have a diagnosis of
dementia (62%).
Referrals from residential care homes have only
increased by 3% whereas hospital referrals
increased by 22% with the Whittington
hospital making 62% more referrals than the
previous year.

Page 39

27

Relevant Persons Representatives (RPR):
Every person with a DoL authorisation in place
has a Relevant Person’s Representative (RPR)
appointed to monitor the DoL. We have systems
in place to monitor conditions and ensure the
RPR’s are visiting the relevant person regularly
and follow up non-compliance with the relevant
RPR’s.
We currently have 192 paid RPR’s in place,
which represents 45% of all Islington residents
on a DoL.
Applications process
The Islington DoLs team continues to process
applications in good time and has no backlogs.
The average time scale turnaround of
applications is 20 days, which compares
favourably with the London average at 68 days.
The national average is more than 100 days.
Safeguarding
Themes and concerns from safeguarding
enquiries and DoLS processes are shared at the
RADAR meeting to ensure that health and social
care colleagues together with CQC are sighted
on any significant concerns requiring attention
or escalation.
If a resident under a DoL or their representative
expresses objection to their placement, care
management is notified and a paid RPR is put in
place to help with a Court of Protection referral
if appropriate. This protects their human rights.

Through Best Interests assessments and the
monitoring of care provisions for our residents
subject to DoL authorisations by Relevant
Persons Representatives (RPR’s), failings in care
can be identified. For adults with care and
support needs this can have a beneficial
outcome. One of the main ways that care
delivery is improved is through the setting of
conditions to the DoLS authorisation and BIA
recommendations for care management.
Conditions were in place in 44% of all current
cases and recommendations for 22%.
Conditions are actions we require the Care
home or hospital to take action to lessen the
restrictions on the resident under a DoL.
Recent good examples are:
 Improved social activities/access to
community
 Helping staff, family and other professionals
understand MCA and highlighting poor use
of MCA
 Review of care plan /needs
 Triggering a review of inappropriate
placement
 Review of medication to manage behaviour
 Specialist assessments requested such as
occupational therapy, speech therapy,
mental health assessment
 Inappropriate physical restraint reduced
 Safeguarding alerts and Court Protection
applications

As at year end, we had 8 active cases subject
to formal Court of Protection action with a
further four cases where an ‘objection’ has been
expressed by the relevant person (RP) which
could also potentially result in a Court of
Protection referral.
Good outcomes

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 40

28

Proposed new DoLS scheme:
Under the proposed new Liberty Protection
Safeguards (LPS) scheme and proposed changes
to the Mental Capacity Act 2005:







the process will be more streamlined
it will apply to people over age 16
it will apply everywhere (not just care
homes and hospitals)
allowances for people with fluctuating
mental capacity will be made
greater safeguards for people will be
made before they are deprived of their
liberty.
the person’s wishes and feelings will be
emphasised more

The new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS)
was originally due to come into force in October
2020 but at the time of writing this report, it has
been announced by the government that
implementation will be delayed.
Work has started locally to prepare for
implementation of the new system. The LPS will
replace the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
(DoLS) as the system to lawfully deprive
somebody of their liberty.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 41

29

13. Lasting Power of
Attorney
Since December 2018, Islington
has been the pilot borough for the
campaign by the Office of the
Public Guardian (OPG) to raise
awareness around Lasting Powers
of Attorney (LPA).
The aim of the campaign is to raise
awareness, dismiss some of the myths and to
reach parts of the community who might not
have felt LPAs were relevant to them. The
OPG has identified that one of the barriers to
people putting in place an LPA is cost. The
leaflet we have been distributing highlights
that depending on the person’s financial
circumstances, it could be free to register the
LPA. In the borough this campaign has
been supported by Islington Council,
Whittington Health, Islington CCG and Age
UK Islington.
The Mental Capacity Act (2005) highlights the
importance for all adults, including those with
care and support needs, to plan for their
future. This includes deciding who should
make decisions about finances, health and
social care and medical treatment should
they ever lose capacity to make these
decisions for themselves. This is achieved by
putting in place a LPA for finance and a
separate LPA for Health and welfare.
It can be difficult to think about the future,
but it can also be reassuring to the person to
know that someone who knows them
understands their wishes and preferences
and has the legal power to make a decision
in their best interests should they lack the
capacity to do this.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

We continue to raise awareness about LPA’s
at community events, for example at carers
events, in our care homes, through the work
of Age UK Islington, at Whittington Hospital
and with Islington GP’s. We have talked
about LPAs to health and social care staff in
the borough at workshops and in training.

Page 42

30

Next steps
We are proud of what we’ve
achieved in the last year. But as
we look ahead, there is so much
more to be done. There is no single
solution to ending adult abuse and
neglect. Tackling it requires
creativity and commitment from all
our partner organisations in
Islington.
that person’s priorities. We’ll continue to work
together to bring about the culture-shift needed to
truly embrace this way of working across agencies
and within our communities.

Covid-19 (Coronavirus) pandemic
In the last few days of the year under review, the
Covid-19 pandemic had struck and national
lockdown was announced. Understandably, the
pandemic has had a profound impact on all of our
partner organisations’ capacity to respond to
safeguarding concerns and also on their ability to
fulfil their safeguarding prevention aims. With the
Care Quality Commission having suspended its
inspection regime in the early part of the
pandemic, our role in local monitoring became all
the more essential.

It takes time, energy and resources to shift
culture, but we are committed to delivering
changes in practice.

Liberty Protection Safeguards
The new safeguards herald significant changes in
the way we work and we will work together to
make sure we are well prepared to adopt new
systems and procedures.

We are impressed with how many of our partners
have, nevertheless, responded with agility and
creativity to ensure that the most vulnerable
residents and carers are safeguarded even in
these challenging times. We will continue to
monitor the local situation and review any
systems, processes, providers or partners which
appear to be floundering during the pandemic.
With this in mind, we have amended our Board
annual plan to include an objective around the
pandemic response.

Learning
We are committed to learning from serious cases.
Our newly-formed Prevention & Learning
subgroup will be driving this agenda forward and
publishing a range of 7-minute briefings to embed
learning.

Listening

Making Safeguarding Personal
However severe the impact of the pandemic, we
must not lose sight of the need to keep the person
we safeguard at the centre of everything we do.
Their wellbeing must be priority in our approach.
Every person is an individual and whenever
possible we must tailor our responses to reflect
Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Your views are important to us. We are committed
to listening to what our community has to say. If
you want to share your views with us, please get
in touch. Our contact details are at the end of this
report.

Page 43

31

Appendix A
Making sure we safeguard everyone
Equality and diversity matter to us.
We want to make sure that
everyone who needs to be
safeguarded is and that we are not
missing people from particular
groups.
Keeping a watch on who needs
safeguarding in Islington also helps
us target our services at the right
groups.
In this part of our review we look at how the Islington population is represented by the people who
had safeguarding concerns raised about them.
With their consent, we capture information about their age, sex ethnicity, sexuality, mental capacity
and service user category. Having a clear overall picture of who we are safeguarding and where
there are gaps, helps us to decide where to focus our attention in the future.

Ages of adults we safeguarded

Number of adults

140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

128

48

78

67

13

18-64

65-74

75-84

85-94

95+

Age group
The chart above shows that this year (as in previous years) there were a lot of
safeguarding concerns about people over 65 years of age. This is consistent with national
and international research which shows that the older an adult is, the more at risk of
abuse they become. Therefore, it appears we are continuing to do well in encouraging
people to come forward and report suspected abuse of older people.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 44

32

This chart shows similar gender proportions to
last year. There were more concerns reported
about women than men. It is difficult to know
whether this is because women experience more
abuse or whether abuse of women is more
commonly reported than abuse of men. National
research (Scholes et al, 2007) found that
women are more likely than men to experience
domestic abuse than men.

Adults who had
safeguarding concerns
raised about them

There were no safeguarding concerns about
people who identified themselves as
transgender. This may be explained by
transgender adults being a statistically small
group of people (estimated to be 0.1% of the
population). It may also be because transgender
adults chose not to disclose this information to
us. We will look into this over the coming year
to make sure we have created appropriate
access and opportunities for transgender people
and other groups to receive awareness raising
information and share concerns.

Male
934
45%

Female
1,140
55%

Ethnicity of adults who had safeguarding concerns raised
about them
1210

White

303

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British

296

Ethnicity

Other Ethnic Group

98

Asian / Asian British

59

Mixed / Multiple

78

Undeclared / Not Known

26

Refused

0

200

400

600

800

1,000 1,200 1,400

Number of adults
The data in the chart above shows that concerns were raised for people from a range of
ethnicities during the year. From in-depth analysis in previous years, it seems that concerns were
least likely to be raised about people who described themselves as being of Chinese or
Bangladeshi ethnicity. We have translated leaflets into Chinese and Bangladeshi. We will
continue to promote safeguarding adults through these leaflets and engage with these
Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 45

33

communities to ensure that safeguarding concerns are not being missed. Different ethnic groups
have slightly different proportions of adults with care and support needs. For example, the
average age varies across ethnic groups in Islington. In an ethnic group where there is a higher
proportion of older people, we would expect to see more safeguarding concerns for that group.

Sexual orientation of adults safeguarded during the year
The government estimates that roughly 6% of the UK population is lesbian, gay or bisexual.
Although the department of health does not require us to collect and report on sexual orientation,
in recent years we have started asking some of the adults we safeguard about this. We will work
towards creating an environment where staff feel confident about asking questions about sexual
orientation and the adults concerned feel safe disclosing their sexual orientation.
Even though our data is not complete, there may be enough data to suggest that lesbian adults
are under-represented in safeguarding enquiries. We continue to work on this strand of equality
and diversity and will engage with partner organisations including Stonewall Housing. This will
allow us to get a better understanding of any barriers this group may experience in accessing
safeguarding support. We will also look to deliver training on this aspect of social work practice.

Main support need of adults who had concerns raised about them
900

Number of adults

800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100

804

416

97

90

Physical
Support

Mental Health
Support

Learning
Disability
Support

58

5

600

Sensory
Support

No primary
support reason
recorded

0
Social Support Support with
Memory &
Cognition

Main support need
The above chart shows the main care or support needs of the adults who had safeguarding
concerns raised about them. There continue to be more safeguarding concerns raised about
adults with physical support needs than any other group of people. This is similar across
the country. The chart shows that few concerns raised for people whose main need was
that they care for someone else. It suggests we need to continue raising awareness
amongst carers and organisations that support carers.
Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 46

34

Appendix B
How the partnership fits in
The picture below shows how the Islington Safeguarding Adults Board (ISAB) fits in with other
organisations and partnerships. The arrows and lines show who reports to whom.

Safer Islington Partnership

Executive
Scrutiny
Corporate Director

Partner Agency
Executives or
Boards

Islington Safeguarding Adults
Board
(ISAB)

MAPPA
ISCB
MARAC

Subgroups

Local networks
Council

All elected councillors. It is the lead body for the local authority.

Executive

Eight councillors who are responsible to the council for running the
local authority.

Scrutiny

This is a group of ‘back bench’ councillors who look very closely at
what the council does

Safer Islington Partnership

This is a group which looks at crime and community safety. It
involves the council, police, fire service, voluntary sector and
others.

Corporate Director

People Services- is responsible for setting up and overseeing the
ISAB

ISAB

Islington Safeguarding Children’s Board works to safeguard children
in the borough.

MARAC

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference. This group responds to
high risk domestic abuse

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 47

35

Appendix C
Who attended our board meetings?
London boards: Camden, Enfield, Barnet and
Haringey Safeguarding Adults Boards. We also
held a local board event for our Safeguarding
Adults Board members.
The table below sets out the organisations
represented at board meetings and subgroup
meetings throughout the year.

Engagement from our partners is
essential. While much of the work goes
on behind the scenes, it is important for
our partners to take part in the meetings.
We hold quarterly Board meetings and an annual
challenge event. This year’s challenge event was
held with our four neighbouring North Central
Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Meetings

Board
Meeting
8 May
2019

Board
Meeting
24 July
2019

Board
Meeting
30 Oct
2019

NCL Challenge
event
5 Feb 2020

Board
Meeting
26 Feb
2020

Partner Organisation
A

Independent Chair
A

Police
Islington Council
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
A

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
London Fire Brigade

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

Camden & Islington Foundation Trust
Whittington Health
Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC)
Probation
London Ambulance Service

A

Safer Islington Partnership
Co-Opted Organisation
Age UK Islington

A

A

A

A

A

A

Notting Hill Pathways

A

A
A

Healthwatch Islington
Single Homeless Project
Attendees

A

A

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

A

A

NHS England

A

A

London Borough of Islington Councillor

A

A

A

A

A

A

A

N

A

A

A

General Practitioner

A

A

A

A

N

Family Mosaic Housing rep

N

N

N

A

N

A

N

Prison
n/a

Voluntary Action Islington

N

A

Key
= Present

A = Apologies no substitute
N = No apology/ substitute recorded
C = Does not attend; receives papers only N/a = not applicable

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 48

36

Quality, Audit and Assurance Subgroup

Subgroup

Subgroup

Subgroup

Subgroup

meeting

meeting

meeting

meeting

15 Apr 19

10 Jul 19

18 Sep 19

22 Jan 20

A

A

Partner Organisation
Chair (Clinical Commissioning Group)
Islington Council
A

Whittington Health
A

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

A

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

A

Notting Hill Housing
Police

Subgroup

Subgroup

Prevention & Learning

Subgroup

Safeguarding Adults Review

Meeting

Meeting

Subgroup

meeting

Subgroup

19 Sep

15 Jan 20

14 Jan

19

2020

Partner Organisation

Partner Organisation

Chair (Police)

Chair (Moorfields NHS FT)

Islington Council

Islington Council

Single Homeless Project

A

London Fire Brigade

Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Age UK

A

Camden and Islington NHS

Trust

FT

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

A

A

Notting Hill Genesis

Camden and Islington NHS Foundation

Whittington Health

A

Prison

A

Page 49

Whittington Health

37

Appendix D
How is our Board resourced?
Primary responsibility for safeguarding adults rests with Islington Council. But all Board partners are
expected to contribute to the resources of the partnership.

Who gave money to the board?
London Fire Brigade
<1%
Whittington Health
3%

Metropolitan Police
3%

Moorfields Eye
Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
4%

Islington council
90%

Metropolitan Police

London Fire Brigade

Whittington Health

Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Islington council

As the above chart shows, Islington council financed 90% of the costs of the Safeguarding
Adults Board in Islington. Islington CCG makes a significant contribution to the Council’s
functions relating to the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards work in the
borough that in part contribute to the Board’s safeguarding aims. For the first time,
Whittington Health and Moorfields Eye Hospital, two of our major health partners, have
contributed to the finances of the Board. Discussions continue with other Board partners
regarding future funding and resources.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 50

38

How we spent the money

9%
21%

1%

Governance (Independent Chair)
Board support and public
engagement
Safeguarding Adult Reviews
Training for partners
Awareness raising

69%

It cost roughly £183,216 to support the work of the Board during the year. This is nearly the same
as last year’s expenditure, being only a quarter of a percent increase.
A significant amount of the basic awareness around MCA/DoLS, community DoLS and modern
slavery training have been delivered by in-house staff which helped to save on costs for external
trainers. Some training has also been delivered online via e-learning modules. This included training
on domestic violence, safeguarding adults at risk in Islington, and some MCA/DoLS training which
have had a positive update. Some members of the public also completed this training.
Although awareness raising direct costs account for only 1% of the board’s expenditure, in reality
several of the board support staff are engaged in awareness-raising work but these indirect costs
are not reflected in the above chart because they are difficult to separate from the general board
support functions.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 51

39

Appendix E
Our impact on the environment
The work of the Safeguarding Adults Board
has a low impact on the environment in
Islington. Environmental impacts include fuel
use for vehicles visiting service users, carers
and their family and other general office
impacts such as paper and energy use.
Wherever possible we try to minimise the
impact on the environment. For example,
wherever we can we avoid printing documents
and send out electronic versions instead to
reduce paper and energy use. From time to
time we hold ‘virtual’ meetings on line to cut
our travel impact.
Sometimes our work also highlights
opportunities
to
reduce
household
environmental impacts. For example, we
might refer adults at risk to the Seasonal
Health Intervention Network (SHINE). SHINE
gives energy saving advice to residents. Not
only does this help the environment, but it also
reduces fuel poverty and improves the health
and wellbeing of residents in Islington.
For more information about SHINE, click here..

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 52

40

Appendix F
Jargon buster
Abuse
Harm caused by another person. The harm can be
intended or unintended.
Adult at risk
An adult who needs care and support because of
their age, disability, physical or mental health and
who may be unable to protect themselves from
harm

restricted in some way. This may amount to a
‘deprivation of liberty’. This is not always a bad
thing – it may be necessary for their safety. But it
should only happen if it is in their best interests.
The deprivation of liberty safeguards are a way of
checking that such situations are appropriate.
Female Genital Mutilation
Female Genital Mutilation involves any kind of
procedure that partly or total removes external
female genitals for non-medical reasons and
without valid consent.

Care Act 2014
An Act of parliament that has reformed the law
relating to care and support for adults.

LeDeR
The LeDeR programme is a review of the deaths of
people with a learning disability to identify common
themes and learning points and provide support to
implement these.

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
CCG’s are NHS organisations set up by the Health
and Social Care Act 2012 to organise the delivery
of NHS services in England.
Channel Panel
Channel is multi-agency panel which safeguards
vulnerable people from being drawn into extremist
or terrorist behaviour at the earliest stage possible.
CRIS
This is a Police Crime Database. The CRIS
database acts as a case management system for
logging and recording crimes.

Making Safeguarding Personal
A way of thinking about care and support services
that puts the adult at the centre of the process.
The adult, their families and carers work together
with agencies to find the right solutions to keep
people safe and support them in making informed
choices.
Mental Capacity Act (MCA)
The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 applies to
everyone involved in the care, treatment and
support of people aged 16 and over living in
England and Wales who are unable to make all or
some decisions for themselves. The MCA is
designed to protect and restore power to those
vulnerable people who lack capacity.

Community Risk Multiagency Risk
Assessment Conference (CRMARAC)
A multi-agency meeting where information is
shared on vulnerable victims of anti-social
behaviour. The aim is to identify the highest risk,
most complex cases and problem-solve the issues
of concern.
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLs)
The process by which a person lacking the relevant
mental capacity may be lawfully deprived of their
liberty in certain settings or circumstances. It
operates to give such a person protection under
Article 5 of European Convention on Human Rights
(right to liberty and security).

Merlin
Merlin is a database used by the Police to report
persons who have come to notice due to any of a
number of risk factors, such as going missing.
Merlin is used to refer those concerns to partner
agencies, such as mental health services.

Sometimes, people in care homes and hospitals
have their independence reduced or their free will
Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 53

41

Neglect
Not being given the basic care and support
needed, such as not being given enough food or
the right kind of food, not being helped to wash.
Safeguarding Adults Board
Councils have a duty to work with other
organisations to protect
adults from abuse and neglect. They do this through
local safeguarding boards.
Safeguarding Concern
Any concern about a person’s well-being or safety
that is reported to adult social services.
Safeguarding concerns can be reported by members
of the public as well as professionals.
Safeguarding Enquiry
A duty on local authorities to make enquiries to
establish whether action is needed to prevent abuse,
harm, neglect or self-neglect to an adult at risk of
harm.
Seasonal Health Interventions Network
(SHINE)
SHINE aims to reduce fuel poverty and seasonal ill
health by referring a resident on to a number of
services. For example, it includes referrals for
energy efficiency advice and visits, fuel debt
support, falls assessments, fire safety and benefits
checks.
RADAR meetings
A meeting which looks at the quality of care being
provided in care homes, care in your home and
hospitals for older people in Islington. The meeting
helps us to share information on services to improve
the quality of care for service users.

Section 136 of Mental Health Act 1983
(Mentally disordered person found in a public
place)
This law is used by the police to take a person to a
place of safety when they are in a public place. The
police can do this if they think the person has a
mental illness and is in need of care.
Section 135 of Mental Health Act 1983
(Warrant to search for and remove patients)
This law is used by the police to take someone to a
place of safety for a mental health assessment.
Section 5 of Mental Health Act 1983
(Application in respect of a patient already in
hospital)
This law is used by a doctor or Approved Mental
Health Practitioner (AMPH) to stop an adult from
leaving a hospital in order to treat them in their best
interest.
Section 6 of Mental Health Act 1983
(Application for admission into hospital)
This law is used by a doctor or AMHP to admit an
adult to hospital in order to treat them in their best
interest.
Workshop Raising Awareness of Prevent
(WRAP)
A specialist workshop created by the Government to
help health and social care professionals understand
the Government’s strategy on Prevent.

Prevent
Prevent is part of the Government’s counterterrorism strategy. It involves safeguarding people
and communities from the threat of terrorism and
extreme views.

Islington Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Review 2019-20

Page 54

42

Appendix G
What should I do if I suspect abuse?
Everybody can help adults to live free
from harm. You play an important
part in preventing and identifying
neglect and abuse.
If you suspect abuse or neglect, it is
always safer to speak up!

If you suspect abuse of a vulnerable adult,
please contact:
Adult Social Services Access and Advice
Team
Tel: 020 7527 2299
Fax: 020 7527 5114
Email: access.service@islington.gov.uk

You can also contact the
Community Safety Unit (part of the police)
Tel: 020 7421 0174
In an emergency, please call 999.
For more information:
Islington Community Safety
https://www.islington.gov.uk/community-safety

For advice on Mental Capacity Act
&
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards contact:
Tel: 0207 527 3828
Email: dolsoffice@islington.gov.uk
For more information, click here

All the people whose faces you can see in the photographs in this review have agreed for their images to be used.
We hope you enjoyed reading this review. If you would like to let us know your thoughts, please email:
safeguardingadults@islington.gov.uk or write to us at:
Safeguarding Adults Unit, Islington Council, 3rd Floor, 222 Upper Street,
Islington, London, N1 1XR

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

Update to Health & Social Care
Scrutiny
Page 57

Covid-19 - Adult Social Care response

Agenda Item 10

November 2020

ASC Update
Page 58

Update
We now have a comprehensive work plan underway to ensure we are prepared for further increases in Covid 19
cases, building on the findings from the ASC Covid Taskforce, the publication of the ASC Winter Plan and two
Ministerial calls. We are currently undergoing an exercise to identify all people who might be vulnerable as
the situation worsens, as part of our Silver arrangements. Sitting alongside this is a another piece of
work identifying the responses necessary across ASC as we move into another lockdown and associated impact that
would have. This gives us a very detailed overview of adult need in Islington.
Page 59

Both the Winter Plan and Task Force recommendations focus on our work with providers, and particularly
infection control, and how we oversee and support providers. This includes,
o distributing and reporting on the distribution of infection control funding
o supporting providers with guidance as it emerges
o ensuring access to PPE by providers, either via the Portal or elsewhere
o supporting providers with testing availability according to appropriate guidelines
o promoting the use of the flu vaccine to the social care workforce
o supporting the re-opening of day/respite services where possible. Where not possible we are developing
alternatives.
o working to prevent hospital admissions and supporting safe hospital discharges.

Page 60

Older People’s Care Homes
and Domiciliary Care

Older People’s Care Homes and Domiciliary Care Overview
Older people’s care homes
There are eight older people’s care homes in Islington – over the course of the pandemic there have been COVID situations
of varying scales in all homes. Data reported does, however, show that variation has reduced considerably following
the large early outbreaks in some homes, with an overall reduction in the number of cases across all homes and, at
home level, considerably smaller numbers of cases where situations have emerged. The nature of cases reported
has changed over time with a decrease in symptomatic residents presenting and an increase in asymptomatic
residents identified through whole setting testing.

•

Similarly, after a sharp increase in the number of COVID-related deaths in older people’s care homes in the early phase of the
pandemic, this has subsequently stabilised. There have been no new resident COVID-related deaths since June.

•

Page 61

•

Staffing levels in Older People’s care homes have remained generally stable throughout the course of the pandemic.

Domiciliary care
•

Domiciliary care agencies report that they have cared for relatively low numbers of residents who have been
confirmed COVID positive or who have been COVID symptomatic.

•

Domiciliary care agencies have reported no COVID-related deaths of residents they care for to commissioners.

•

After some initial workforce challenges in the sector staffing levels have stabilised and there is capacity within
the market.

Please see slides overleaf for information on COVID-related trends in older people’s care homes.

Domiciliary care COVID testing update
The latest guidance from Public Health England shows that the prevalence of COVID positive homecare staff is in line with the
general population. On this basis, Public Health England are not recommending routine testing of homecare staff and
there is no national pathway for domiciliary care staff testing akin to that which exists for care home staff.
In light of local political interest, officers have, however, been exploring options for how testing could be
undertaken, including…

Page 62

• The Council has put in an expression of interest to participate in a mass asymptomatic testing trial – this could be used in
part to support domiciliary care testing but logistics would need to be worked through and this would need to be balanced
against other pressing local needs (e.g. testing of the education workforce.)

Feedback from providers:
•

Temp Exchange advise they are routinely testing three workers a week (at the Lea Valley test centre), which is
around 10% of their workforce.

•

Majority of homecare providers only test if; there is suspected symptoms of Covid-19, Flu symptoms or there has been contact
with a symptomatic person.

In the interim, officers have shared information with providers on how to access the test site in Islington (at the
Sobell Centre) in addition how to access additional testing sites via NCL arrangements.

OP home sector level trends – resident cases reported over time
COVID-19 resident cases (confirmed and suspected) reported to commissioners
across all OP homes – weekly Gold report

Page 63

70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

•
•

Public Health advice shifts to all
homes using PPE within 2m of
residents regardless of symptoms

All Islington OP homes

All OP care homes have reported on the number of confirmed and suspected cases on a weekly basis to ASC commissioners since 8th April 2020.
Prior to this, reporting was ad hoc, if there were cases suspected or confirmed. The above presents the total number of cases reported at weekly
check ins, using the snapshot view to highlight trends. The above therefore may not accurately reflect day to day changes between value points.
The data above includes confirmed and suspected cases – both symptomatic and asymptomatic. Changes reported week by week reflects that
residents recovered, deteriorated and died, or testing clarified COVID status. It should be noted that limitations in the availability of testing and
reliance on clinical judgement mean that this data, particularly earlier data, may not completely accurately reflect all COVID cases i.e. some
suspected cases may not have been COVID-19 and some asymptomatic cases may not have been identified and there may variation in reporting.

There has been a considerable reduction in the overall number of COVID-19 cases reported in OP care homes from a
peak of 66 suspected or confirmed cases reported in the first Gold report of the crisis to there being consistently no
more than 8 cases reported in weekly snapshots since 21 April. The nature of cases reported has changed over time
with a decrease in symptomatic residents presenting and an increase in asymptomatic residents identified.

OP home sector level trends – cumulative COVID-related
resident deaths

Cumulative COVID resident deaths (confirmed and suspected) reported to
commissioners all OP homes – Gold report

Page 64

40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
All Islington OP homes

•

•

All OP care homes have reported on the number of COVID-related resident deaths on a weekly basis to ASC commissioners since 8th April 2020. In
the first report, commissioners asked providers to report on deaths that had occurred since 25 March 2020. The above presents the cumulative
total COVID-19 deaths reported at weekly check ins, using the snapshot view to highlight trends. The above therefore may not accurately reflect
day to day changes between value points.
The data above includes both confirmed and suspected COVID-19 deaths. It should be noted that limitations in the availability of testing and
reliance on clinical judgement mean that this data, particularly earlier data, may not completely accurately reflect all COVID deaths. Determining
COVID’s role in cause of death (e.g. where it was a secondary cause) is complex and there may be variation in reporting.

After a sharp increase in the number of confirmed and suspected COVID-related deaths early in the pandemic during
widescale outbreaks in some homes, the number of new COVID-related deaths has stabilised with no new deaths
reported since June 2020.

Covid-19
Mental Health Care Homes Update
Page 65

Home level COVID-19 impact table
Home

• `

Occupancy /
Capacity

Current COVID-19
cases (03/11/20)

Total deaths to date
(25/03/20 –
03/11/20)

Notes

3/3

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Hilldrop Rd – St
Mungo’s

27/29

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No new deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Hornsey Lane Peabody

12/12

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

New North Road
– St Martin’s of
Tour

12/12

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Wilton Villas - –
St Martin’s of
Tour

12/12

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Page 66

Cardinal’s Way –
Havenbell

No resident or staff cases were reported in mental health care homes this week and there have been no deaths to
date. Staffing levels remain steady. All homes are testing as per national guidance.

Covid-19
Learning Disabilities Care Homes Update
Page 67

Home level COVID-19 impact table
Home

Occupancy /
Capacity

Current COVID-19
cases (03/11/20)

Total deaths to date
(25/03/20 –
03/11/20)

Notes

King Henry’s
Walk

3/10

1 confirmed current
staff case.

No deaths to date

No new cases – confirmed case reported on last week coming to end of
isolation period. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Wray Court

8/8

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Page 68

6/7

0 cases.

No deaths to date

No new cases. No deaths. Testing as per national guidance.

Orchard Close

No new resident or staff cases. Staffing levels remain steady. All homes are testing as per national guidance.

Page 69

Thank You for listening
Any Questions?

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

Chief Executive Department
Town Hall, London N1 2UD
Report of:
Meeting of:
Health and Social Care Scrutiny
Committee

Date:
November 2020

Ward(s):
All

Delete as appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Quarter 1 Performance Report: 2020-2021
1. Synopsis
1.1 The council has in place a suite of corporate performance indicators to help monitor progress in
delivering the outcomes set out in the council’s Corporate Plan. Progress on key performance
measures are reported through the council’s Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly basis to ensure
accountability to residents and to enable challenge where necessary.
1.2 This report sets out quarter 1 , 2020-2021 progress against targets for those performance
indicators that fall within the Health and Social Care outcome area, for which the Health and Social
Care Scrutiny Committee has responsibility.
1.3 It is suggested that Scrutiny undertake a deep dive of one objective under the related
corporate outcome over a 12-month period. This will enable more effective monitoring and
challenge as required.

2. Recommendations
2.1 To note performance against targets in Quarter 1 2020/21 for measures relating to Health and
Independence
2.2 To suggest one objective under related corporate outcome for a deep dive review, to take place
over a 12-month period.

Page 71

Page 1 of 7

3. Background
3.1 A suite of corporate performance indicators has been agreed for 2018-22, which help track
progress in delivering the seven priorities set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan - Building a Fairer
Islington. Targets are set on an annual basis and performance is monitored internally, through
Departmental Management Teams, Corporate Management Board and Joint Board, and externally
through the Scrutiny Committees.
3.2 The Health and Care Committee is responsible for monitoring and challenging performance for
the following key outcome area: Public Health
3.3 Scrutiny committees can suggest a deep dive against one objective under the related corporate
outcome. This will enable a comprehensive oversight of suggested objective, using triangulation of
data such as complaints, risk reports, resident surveys and financial data and, where able to,
hearing from partners, staff and residents, getting out into the community and visiting services, to
better understand the challenge and provide more solid recommendations

4. Quarter 1 performance update – Public Health
5.1 Key performance indicators relating to Public Health

PI

Indicator

No.

2018/19
Actual

2019/20
Actual

2020/21

Q1 2020/21

On target?

Q1 last
year

Better
than Q1
last year?

The
HealtheIntent
dashboard is
now being betatested with the
GP federations.
Data should be
available in Q3.
70.7%

TBC

N/A

N/A

TBC

68.2%

N/A

Target

HI1

Population vaccination
coverage DTaP/IPV/Hib3
at age 5-6 months
(inclusion subject to
confidence that we will
have HealththeIntent
data).

New
Corporate
Target

New
Corporate
Target

No target set.

HI2

Population vaccination
coverage MMR2 (Age 5)
(inclusion subject to
confidence that we will
have Health e-Intent
data

New
Corporate
Target

70%

No target set.

HI3

Number of child health
clinics run per week (out
of a pre-COVID quota of
12/week).

New
Corporate
Target

New
Corporate
Target

No target set.

5 clinics per
week.

Yes

N/A

N/A

HI4

Number of Long Acting
Reversible Contraception
(LARC) prescriptions in
local integrated sexual
health services.

N/A

1335

1100

75

No

320

No

HI5

Percentage of smokers
using stop smoking
services who stop
smoking (measured four
weeks after quit date).

N/A

57%

50%

62%

Yes

49.6%

Yes

Page 72

Page 2 of 7

HI6

Percentage of drug
users in drug treatment
who successfully
complete treatment and
do not re-present within
six months.

N/A

15.2%

20%

16.7%

No

10.2%

Yes

HI7

Percentage of alcohol
users who successfully
complete the treatment
plan.

N/A

42.9%

42.0%

33.7%

No

31.4%

Yes

5.2 *New Corporate Indicator; Population vaccination coverage DTaP/IPV/Hib3 at age
5-6 months (inclusion subject to confidence that we will have Health e-Intent data). As
this is a recovery target, no annual target is set..
HealtheIntent is a population health management system that provides a dashboard view of
clinically determined quality measures for defined population cohorts, for example children under
the age of 5, adults with diabetes, people at the end of life, etc. HealtheIntent is able to pull in
data from multiple partners in health and social care. One of the new dashboards that will be
available to GPs will enable daily updates on childhood immunisations, allowing individual
identification of due/overdue vaccinations as well as practice and population summaries.
There is some concern that childhood vaccination rates dropped during the first Covid-19 lockdown
because of a general reluctance to engage with health services, hence the inclusion of this recovery
indicator.
The HealtheIntent dashboard is now being beta-tested with the GP federation. Data should be
available in Q3.
5.3 *New Corporate Indicator; Population vaccination coverage MMR2 (Age 5). As this
is a recovery target, no annual target is set.
There are similar concerns that MMR vaccination rates may have been negatively affected by Covid
lockdown, but locally and nationally, rates of vaccination at age 5 were already well below the
national target of 95% recommended by the World Health Organisation to achieve and maintain
the elimination of measles. For Q1 2020-21, the percentage of children fully vaccinated (i.e. 2
doses) against measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) at age 5 was 71% in Islington, compared to
76% in London and 87% in England. Because this measure is of children aged 5, who were due
their second dose vaccine at age 3, any impact of Covid would be small at this stage.
The HealtheIntent dashboard will allow daily feedback to practices on vaccination rates and
children overdue vaccinations, as well as real time monitoring of vaccination rates across the
borough. The childhood immunisation dashboard is now being beta-tested with the GP federations.
Data should be available in Q3.
5.4 *New Corporate Indicator; Number of child health clinics run per week (out of a
pre-COVID quota of 12/week).
Child health clinics before Covid provided easy and open access to parents of young children to
gain advice from the health visiting service on any concerns about their baby’s health or
development. They are also an opportunity to check growth by weighing and measuring a baby.
There were 13 walk-in clinics per week across the borough. Child health clinics are, in normal
times, provided in addition to the 5 mandated universal child health and development reviews
offered to all families, as well as additional targeted work with some families.

Page 73

Page 3 of 7

At the start of lockdown, face to face appointments within the health visiting service were reduced
to a minimum, for infection control reasons, and focussed on safeguarding or serious health or
developmental concerns. A single weekly, appointment-only face-to-face clinic continued, with
appropriate safety measures in place. Duty desks were set up to provide daily 9-5 telephone access
to the health visiting service, which also provided the opportunity to triage for the single clinic and
book a clinic appointment (or home visit) where necessary. The duty lines are well used and the
service are confident that they have provided a reasonable alternative to drop-in clinics in the
circumstances.
The mandated elements of the heath visiting service have continued in addition to the duty line,
replacing face-face home visits with remote appointments either by phone or video link, except
where there are safeguarding concerns or a need to see the baby in person. Many families have
found these remote methods of delivery more accessible than face-face appointments (particularly
fathers), and take-up has been similar to pre-lockdown rates.
In terms of clinic appointments, demand was high for face-face appointments, and necessary in
some circumstances, but this needed to be balanced by the risk of infection. The number of faceface clinics was increased gradually to 5 clinics by mid-May, with the intention for a further
expansion in July.

5.5 Number of Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) prescriptions in local
integrated sexual health services. Annual target of 1100, which is the same target as
last year.
LARC is safe and highly effective in preventing unintended pregnancies and unlike other forms of
birth control, it is a non-user dependent method of contraception. Increasing uptake and on-going
use of LARC thereby supports a reduction in unintended pregnancies and particularly teenage
pregnancies.
Appointments for women wanting a LARC intervention (fitting, removal or review of a device) has
been severely impacted due to the impacts of COVID-19. During the peak period of lockdown in
particular, this activity was restricted unless urgent, and guidance from the Department of Health
and Social Care, National Health Service England and Public Health England was followed. Our
sexual health services were able to provide advice about continued safe usage of LARC and/or
provide alternative contraception, which the local service was able to safely prescribe remotely
through the post, as a bridge to when LARC would become more widely available.
LARC appointments have been prioritised as services have phased re-activation of services during
Q2 (not covered in this report), but capacity has been affected due to the necessary steps to
ensure COVID-secure services for patients and staff. Issues such as social distancing have had
practical impacts on the ability of clinics to accommodate patient numbers, although part of the
LARC consultations are now done over the phone and/or online in advance to help with clinic
capacity.
There is also pent-up demand within the system, due to ongoing demand for LARC, LARC devices
needing to be replaced every few years or removed for those wishing to start a family. Primary care
has largely not been able to restart this service due to competing pressures within surgeries and
similar impacts of COVID secure measures.
Work is ongoing in Islington, and in collaboration with other London commissioners on new models
for sexual health services; with more activity-taking place remotely where this is safe and clinically
appropriate to do so, which is assisting with the physical capacity constraints within clinics at the
current time.

Page 74

Page 4 of 7

5.6 Percentage of smokers using stop smoking services who stop smoking (measured
at four weeks after quit date). Annual target of 50%.
The percentage of smokers, who stopped smoking using the community stop smoking service,
Breathe, and GP and pharmacy specialist support, exceeded the target of 50% in Q1, at 62%. This
is despite changes in service delivery across all settings, due to pandemic restrictions.
The rapid response of the Breathe community service to initial pandemic restrictions, moving to
telephone support and postal nicotine replacement therapy was successful and well used. The lack
of face-to-face appointments in community settings did not have a negative impact in smokers
accessing the service through referrals and self-referrals. The number of people setting a quit date
with Breathe advisors in the community almost doubled compared to Q1 last year (138 in 2020/21
vs 72 in 2019/20). This could be attributable to the ongoing work between commissioners and
service leads to maximise the service offer and promote it using online media. The national
messaging around the importance of stopping smoking during Covid-19 may have also contributed
to more residents seeking support, which has been seen nationally, too.
Successful quits in a hospital setting were equivalent to Q1 last year. While quits in pregnancy
increased, GP and pharmacy activity fell significantly, as expected, given that primary care
providers were asked to wind down non-essential services.
A joint council and provider campaign 'Quit for Covid' began at the end of Q1. It is expected to
have boosted service uptake further during Q2.

5.7 Percentage of drug users in drug treatment who successfully complete treatment
and do not re-present within 6 months. Annual target of 20%
Islington’s drug and alcohol service, Better Lives, remains open and accessible, but have changed
the way in which interventions are being delivered. Although Q1 performance of 16.7% does not
meet the target of 20%, this is an increase from Q4 2019/20 of +1.5%. This increase was
achieved through a period of significant pressures and changes that have been made to service
delivery and supporting service users during Q1.
Service delivery has been very affected by COVID19 impacts. Most service sites are only accessible
by appointment only which need to be arranged by telephone in advance. . Support is being
offered via telephone, resource packs and digital solutions such as Zoom groups and the use of
various recovery apps. Commissioners are working with service providers to ensure the level and
range of support available to people with substance misuse needs is as accessible as possible.
For service users who are particularly vulnerable, medicines are being delivered direct to their
homes., other service users have made use of volunteer delivery schemes or have been able to
collect their own medications. Services have also increased the distribution of naloxone (an
antidote that can be administered to reverse the effect of an opiate overdose) and safe storage
boxes for medications. Better Lives have continued to provide training to front-line staff who may
be supporting residents who they have concerns about related to drug and /or alcohol misuse.
This training has been delivered by video link and the use of on-line modules.
The service have continued to accept referrals, and have in fact seen an increase in new people
accessing treatment. The increase in people entering drug treatment can be partly attributed to
proactive work with rough sleepers and emergency hotel residents who have been successfully
engaged in drug treatment since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Page 75

Page 5 of 7

5.8 Percentage of alcohol users who successfully complete the treatment plan. Annual
target of 42%.
The Q1 performance for alcohol users is below target at 33.7% but higher than the position for this
time last year, which was at 31.4%.
Changes have been made to the delivery of the alcohol service as mentioned in the section above.
Despite these changes, services are reporting an increase in demand for alcohol interventions. A
number of previous service users have reported not being able to continue with recovery during
lockdown, and have subsequently begun drinking again. Commissioners are working with service
providers to manage current demand and to ensure support and advice is widely available for any
Islington resident who may be concerned with their own or others' alcohol use, for example,
promoting a new alcohol awareness app "Lower My Drinking" which is available for all Islington
residents.

6. Implications
6.1 Financial implications:

There are no financial implications arising as a direct result of this report.
Any plans or strategies derived or agreed in relation to this report should use existing
available resources and therefore not create a budget pressure for the Council.
6.2 Legal Implications:

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

6.3 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon
Islington by 2030:
There are no environmental impact arising from monitoring performance.

6.4 Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not
share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010).
The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and
encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to
tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

7. Conclusion

Page 76

Page 6 of 7

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out a clear set of priorities, underpinned by a set of firm
commitments and actions that we will take over the next four years to work towards our vison of a
Fairer Islington. The corporate performance indicators are one of a number of tools that enable us
to ensure that we are making progress in delivering key priorities whilst maintaining good quality
services.

Signed by:

[Corporate Director and Exec Member]
Report Author:
Tel:
Email:

Date: [add date]

[extension]
[email]

Page 77

Page 7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Chief Executive Department
Town Hall, London N1 2UD
Report of:
Meeting of:
Health and Care Scrutiny
Committee

Date:
26th November 2020

Ward(s):

Delete as appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Quarter 1 Performance Report
1.

Synopsis

1.1

The council has in place a suite of corporate performance indicators to help monitor progress in
delivering the outcomes set out in the council’s Corporate Plan. Progress on key performance
measures are reported through the council’s Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly basis to ensure
accountability to residents and to enable challenge where necessary.

1.2

This report sets out Quarter 1 2020/21 progress against targets for those performance indicators
that fall within the Adult Social Care outcome area, for which the Health and Care Scrutiny
Committee has responsibility.

1.3

It is suggested that Scrutiny undertake a deep dive of one objective under the related corporate
outcome over a 12-month period. This will enable more effective monitoring and challenge as
required.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

To note performance against targets in Quarter 1 2020/21 for measures relating to Health and
Independence

2.2

To suggest one objective under related corporate outcome for a deep dive review, to take place
over a 12-month period.

Page 79

Page 1 of 8

3.

Background

3.1

A suite of corporate performance indicators has been agreed for 2018-22, which help track
progress in delivering the seven priorities set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan - Building a Fairer
Islington. Targets are set on an annual basis and performance is monitored internally, through
Departmental Management Teams, Corporate Management Board and Joint Board, and externally
through the Scrutiny Committees.

3.2

The Health and Care Committee is responsible for monitoring and challenging performance for the
following key outcome area: Adult Social Care.

3.3

Scrutiny Committees can suggest a deep dive against one objective under the related corporate
outcome. This will enable a comprehensive oversight of suggested objective, using triangulation of
data such as complaints, risk reports, resident surveys and financial data and, where able to,
hearing from partners, staff and residents, getting out into the community and visiting services, to
better understand the challenge and provide more solid recommendations.

4.

Quarter 1 performance update – Adult Social Care

4.1

Key performance indicators relating to Adult Social Care.

Page 80

Page 2 of 8

PI
No.

Indicator

2019/20
Actual

2020/21
Target

Q1
2020/21

On
target?

Q1 last
year

Better
than
Q1 last
year?

7.2

5.0

NA

NA

5.3

NA

HI8

Average number of
social care beds
delayed per day

HI9

Percentage of ASC
service users receiving
long term support who
have received at least
one review

43%

55%

45%

No

52%

No

HI10

Percentage of ASC
referrals for long term
support*

65%

NA

51%

NA

NA

NA

HI11

Percentage of ASC
enquiries where a risk
is identified and the risk
is removed or reduced

96%

99%

99%

Yes

95%

Yes

HI12

New admissions to
nursing or residential
care homes (all ages)

152

142

28

Yes

38

Yes

HI13

Percentage of service
users receiving services
in the community
through Direct
Payments

27.6%

30%

27.6%

No

24.9%

Yes

HI14

The percentage of
working age adults
known to Adult Social
Care feeling that they
have adequate or
better social contact.

75%

80%

NA

NA

NA

NA

*This indicator is under review

Average number of social care beds delayed per day (Delayed Transfers of Care)
4.2

This indicator cannot be updated at this point because NHS Digital have paused the collection and
publication of official Delayed Transfers of Care statistics due to COVID-19 and the need to release
capacity across the NHS to support the response. There is not yet an indication of when publication
of these statistics will be resumed.

Percentage of ASC service users receiving long term support who have received at least one review

Page 81

Page 3 of 8

4.3

This is a new indicator for 2020/21. As of Q1 2020/21, 45% of service users who have been
receiving services since the beginning of the year have had a review in the last 12 months. This is
below the target for 2020/21 of 55%, but higher than the end of year 2019/20 position (43%).
1. Why is this not on target?
COVID-19 has presented a challenge to all teams in Adult Social Care. In this case
challenges to the Community Placement and Review Team, North and South Integrated
Community Social Work Teams and Occupational Therapy teams affecting reviews have
been staffing levels, working with service users, and reviewing residents in care homes. In
the early part of the pandemic staff were not managing to conduct reviews in many care
homes due to the crisis and home care staff were under heightened pressure. There have
been additional challenges around staff changes, staff on long term sick leave, and work
relating to ongoing care quality concerns with a local care home required needed to take
place as a matter of urgency with all of the residents in this home. These challenges
combined means many people using Adult Social Care services have not had a review in the
last 12 months as routine assessments and reviews have been more challenging to
complete.
2. What action are you taking to get it back on track?
Although COVID-19 presents ongoing challenges, there have been steps taken to improve
the waiting list situation. New staff have been recruited and funding has been secured for
three social workers to do COVID care reviews. This should begin to improve the waiting list
situation as they begin to review the work in a strength based way. All four teams plan to
review their waiting lists and take a planned approach to reduce their waiting lists. The CPR
team has implemented a number of changes to make some structural improvements in the
running of the team and improve the turnover of work, for example in weekly allocation and
closure lists that allow the team to chart progress. An experienced administrator is working
alongside the team manager in the CPR team to ensure that the LAS system reflects the
work that is transferred accurately to the team.
3. When do you expect it to be back on track?
We expect to see improvement in our figures for Q2 2020/21.

Percentage of ASC referrals for long term support
4.4

This is a new indicator for 2020/21 that is currently under review and may be replaced in future
reports. As a result, a target has not been set.
This indicator monitors the level of demand flowing through the adult social care service by
calculating the percentage of referrals made by our Urgent Response team that are being sent to
our integrated social work teams. At the end of the year in 2019/20, 65% of all referrals sent by
the Urgent Response team had been sent to either the North or South Integrated Service. As of
Quarter 1 2020/21, 51% of all referrals sent by the Urgent Response team had been sent to either
the North or South Integrated Service.

Page 82

Page 4 of 8

Percentage of ASC enquiries where a risk is identified and the risk is removed or reduced
4.5

This is a new indicator for 2020/21 and is meant to help the service monitor safeguarding.
Although the volume of safeguarding concerns reported to the Council has increased relative to
2019/20, the percentage of ASC enquiries where a risk is identified and the risk is removed or
reduced was higher in Q1 of 2020/21 (99%) than at end of year 2019/20 (96%) and the figure for
Q1 is on target for 2020/21 (99%).
The council’s safeguarding adults duties are enshrined in the Care Act 2014. The Care Act formerly
introduced the requirement for local authorities to safeguard people using a personalised approach.
This approach is called Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP). MSP places the service user at the
centre of safeguarding conversations, decisions and actions. A key element of this approach
involves working with the person who has experienced harm/abuse to identify any risks and desired
outcomes required to keep them safe.
A key indicator to measure the success of any safeguarding adults intervention is the removal or
reduction of risks being experienced or faced by the person who has experienced harm/abuse.
There will be a small number of cases where we are for a variety of reasons unable to reduce or
remove a risk in a safeguarding concern. We maintain an oversight of professional decision making
via case file audits, regular practitioner workshops and the mandatory inclusion of Safeguarding
cases in supervision sessions. If we were to discover significant numbers of safeguarding cases
where risks have not been reduced or removed we would carry out further assurance exercises to
understand the trend, any reasons for it and develop mitigations if required.

New admissions to nursing or residential care homes (all ages)
4.6

This indicator has been amended in 2020/21 to reflect new admissions to nursing or residential
care homes from all ages, whereas in previous years only new admissions of service users aged
65+ were reported.
The Council provides residential and nursing care for those who are no longer able to live
independently in their own homes. The aim is to keep the number of permanent placements as low
as possible, supporting more people to remain in the community. To meet transformation targets, a
target of 142 total placements in 2020/21 has been set (a reduction from 152 in 2019/20). At the
end of Quarter 1 2019/20, we have had a total of 28 new admissions, which places us on target for
2020/21 with a projected final number of 112.
Due to COVID-19 and the restrictions the pandemic placed on care homes, admissions to nursing
and residential homes were very limited in Quarter 1 of 2020/21. Consequently, people were
discharged into their own homes or maintained in their own homes until care homes could begin to
safely admit new residents.
As at the end of Q1 there are a total of 633 placements in nursing or residential care homes. New
admissions have accounted for 4% of these placements. We have supported an additional 2,503
service users with long term homecare placements in the year to date.

Percentage of service users receiving services in the community through Direct Payments

Page 83

Page 5 of 8

4.7

Although below the target of 30%, in Q1 2020/21, 28% of all Islington community care and
support is provided through Direct Payments, compared to 25% at this point last year. The total
number of service users receiving services in the community through direct payments has
decreased slightly, to 563 compared to 614 at this point last year
Personalisation is a key work stream of the Adult Social Care Transformation Plan. This work
stream aims to improve processes and systems resulting in individuals in need of care and support
having greater choice and control over their lives as well as increasing the number of people
accessing direct payments. The key areas of work are; improving the training offer for direct
payment users and personal assistants, updating the Personal Assistant Finder online tool,
developing training for staff in adult social care around personalisation, reviewing the allocation of
direct payments to ensure they are adequate to meet need and equitable, developing new policies
and procedures and finalising a new commissioning framework for managed direct payment
accounts.
A Direct Payments’ Forum is in operation so that people using Direct Payments and their carers can
discuss issues arising with Direct Payments processes and their experiences with council staff, and
make suggestions for improvements. People using Direct Payments and their carers are also
involved in a co-production working group to take forward actions from the forum and plan future
events. These include setting up a peer support group for people using Direct Payments, and
improving the training and support offer to people using Direct Payments and their Personal
Assistants, and making it easier for people to find Personal Assistants.

The percentage of working age adults known to Adult Social Care feeling that they have adequate
or better social contact.
4.8

Social isolation refers to a lack of contact with family or friends, community involvement or access
to services. Results from the 2019/20 Social Care User Survey showed a decreased percentage of
working age adults known to Adult Social Care feeling that they have adequate or better social
contact (75%, compared to 78% in 2019/20). This indicator is updated annually so was not

updated for this report.
During COVID 19 a significant amount of people were contacting the Council via We Are Islington
for support with a range of essential services such as food packages, financial support and
medicine delivery. It soon became apparent that a large number of people were also feeling socially
isolated, some of these people were known to Adult Social Care (ASC) but others were not. As part
of this identification of need three key things took place to support people feeling isolated at home:
1. Initially Adult Social Care and We Are Islington staff undertook welfare checks to all
vulnerable people (known to ASC) and those on the governments shielding list – to ensure
that essential services were in place and that people could access support including for
social isolation.
2. Following the feedback from the welfare calls and calls to We Are Islington colleagues from
Public health undertook a mapping of local befriending and other community connecting
services in Islington and found 85 local services offering this support

Page 84

Page 6 of 8






This was developed into a briefing which was shared among residents, professionals
and our wider VCS community offer
Islington Council website was updated to help people seeking such support
Befriending services now come together regularly in a network to support each other
Adult social care and public health worked with We Are Islington and Islington
contact centre colleagues to develop an open questions ‘script’ to support strength
based conversations and check on people’s feels of isolation and loneliness

3. It became clear that professionals from ASC, WAI and the Mental Health Trust found it
difficult to navigate the huge number of options available to residents from the VCS.
Therefore
 ASC established a single point of access with a local VCS provider Manor Gardens
where referrals could be made. Manor Gardens operated a triage service which
established which organisations and interests were best suited to meet the
individual’s needs and help put them in touch
 Work is underway to develop this access point in localities and with strong links to
VCS so that people can find or be routed to VCS for support to connect with a wide
range of befriending and community activities that are available – many of these are
now operating remotely on the phone or on-line, others still do face to face support
where safe to do so.
 Work is underway to improve the navigation and search functions on Islington
Council’s website so residents and professionals will find it easier to use and find the
support they need. There will always be a role for face to face contact but improving
digital access too will support a greater number of residents.

5.

Implications
Financial implications:

5.1

The cost of providing resources to monitor performance is met within each service’s core budget.
Legal Implications:

5.2

There are no legal duties upon local authorities to set targets or monitor performance. However,
these enable us to strive for continuous improvement.
Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon Islington
by 2030:

5.3

There are no environmental impact arising from monitoring performance.

Resident Impact Assessment:
5.4

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not
share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010).

Page 85

Page 7 of 8

5.5

The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and
encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to
tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

6.

Conclusion

6.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out a clear set of priorities, underpinned by a set of firm
commitments and actions that we will take over the next four years to work towards our vison of a
Fairer Islington. The corporate performance indicators are one of a number of tools that enable us
to ensure that we are making progress in delivering key priorities whilst maintaining good quality
services.

Signed by:

[Corporate Director and Exec Member]
Report Author:
Tel:
Email:

Date: [add date]

[name]
[extension]
[email]

Page 86

Page 8 of 8

Agenda Item 12
NOTE OF DISCUSSION WITH ADULT PAID CARER – 7 OCTOBER 2020
Main points –












It had been difficult during COVID 19 – at start of pandemic difficult to get
PPE and in travelling on buses as these were not running regularly
Carer had lost 2 clients during pandemic – not due to COVID but to mental
health issues –this had meant a loss on income for the carer
Carer had young family living at home and found it difficult as one has health
problems and she was scared of bringing COVID back into the home
Carers were not appreciated and the pay was not good – not paid for travel
time and often it can take time on public transport to reach clients
Some carers had to work 60 hours per week to earn a decent wage
If sick do not get paid properly – when carer off sick during COVID only got
£80 per week even though she had a GP sickness certificate
Supply of PPE now was satisfactory however there were issues with clients
who had health risks initially and special efforts had to be made for her to be
able to get PPE for herself and clients. However, the situation was good with
PPE now and protective clothing and masks were being provided
Carers also provided with sanitiser
Carer stated that when she lost clients during COVID she also lost their hours
and lost income and if clients go into hospital carers lose that income as well
so there is no security of pay
The provider pays wages on a 13 month pay basis – wages every 4 weeks –
and this causes problems with UC payments

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

NOTE OF DISCUSSION WITH ADULT PAID CARER – 13 OCTOBER 2020
Main points –
















Carer had worked all through COVID however if carers did have to take time
off through sickness they only got £90 per week
Travel time – this did not seem to be paid and travel time is often changed.
Carers are supposed to get 15 minutes travel time but this is often cut to 5
minutes
Changes to rotas are often made during the night and clients were added to a
carers rota, and extra jobs are added without adequate travelling time being
added
When jobs are completed a note has to be made but if the job is doubled up
with another carer and one carer completes the form the other carer is not paid
PPE during COVID – whilst this was provided at the outset this ran out and as
it had to be ordered some things ran out and some items are still not available.
Aprons needed to be taken off a roll and quite often PPE not available and
carers had to go to work without adequate PPE
Carers are on a 6 day week, however the company did not give them a day off
as carers were forced to work due to shortage of staff. Carers are also told
when they can take holiday most of the time and the maximum length of time
carers can take off is 2 weeks at a time, however carers who need to visit
family abroad can take 4 weeks and take unpaid leave
Carers have rotas changed at the last minute and not aware until late in the day
of what clients they are visiting, and clients do not know which carer is going
to turn up. If a carer takes a day off they will be punished by giving their
work to someone else When medication increased owners not always
informed
Office staff argue amongst themselves blaming jobs on each other and results
in jobs not done
When on holiday the company staff ring you as they do not always know what
is going on at clients house
Key safe numbers are often missing
Some shopping time is only an hour and within that time have to collect
money from cashpoint, shop for the client at the supermarket, and return
shopping to client in an hour – no time is allocated for queueing
If you have to wait for an ambulance and are delayed on job they cover your
following call so you do not get paid through no fault of your own

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

COVID 19 Update
Page 91

November 2020

Contents
• A brief summary of the local and national impact of COVID-19 to date
• An update on the current actions from the outbreak prevention and control plan

Page 92

Brief summary of national
and local impact of COVID19 to date
Page 93

COVID-19 Cases in Islington
•As of 17th November
2020, there have been a
total of 2,990 laboratory
confirmed cases in
Islington.

Page 94

•Since the end of August,
the number of new cases
has risen significantly.
Over the last 4 weeks the
average number of new
daily cases has settled to
an extent.
7 day
Latest weekly incidence rate
Cumulative rate
Positivity rate
incidence rate in 60’s and
of cases per
per 100,000
over
100,000 as of
(5/11/20(5/11/20(5/11/2017/11/20
11/11/20)
11/11/20)
11/11/20)

Area

Cumulative
number of
cases as of
17/11/20

Islington

2,990

1,233.2

178.6

110.3

8.7%

London

131,687

1,469.4

180.9

136.2

8.9%

England

1,194,402

2,122

271.2.

203.3

9.6%

It should be borne in mind
that over this time the
eligibility and availability of
testing has increased
dramatically, so early on
many symptomatic cases
will not have been tested.

COVID19 Cases demographics
Ethnicity
•

25% of the cases do not have an ethnicity recorded. Of the cases with an ethnicity recorded 66% are
White and 34% are from a Black, Asian, Minority ethnic group (BAME), similar to the boroughs profile.

•

The ethnic profile of positive cases has not changed over the past 6 weeks.

Age and gender
• Overall there is an even split of cases amongst males and females and the age profile of cases is slightly
younger than the borough population overall. In the most recent 3 weeks of data, just over half of the
cases have been aged 15-34.

Page 95

• There has been little change in the age breakdown of cases in the last 6 weeks.
Deprivation
• Deprivation data shows little variance in prevalence across the quintiles.

Testing
Total tests
•

As of 8th of November 2020 there have been 42,173 pillar 1 tests and 49,342 pillar 2 tests for
approximately 77,000 residents.

•

Both Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 testing has decreased amongst Islington residents since the week commencing
the 26th October.

•

For the 7 day period 31st of October - 6th of November Islington had a testing rate of 280.7 per
100,000, this is lower than the London average at 304.7 per 100,000.

Ethnicity

Page 96

• In the past 3 weeks, the rate of testing has been highest amongst Other Ethnic and Black African ethnic
groups, and lowest among Other Black and Bangladeshi ethnic groups.
• Positivity rates are highest among those with no recorded ethnicity, and people from Other, Other Black,
and Bangladeshi ethnic groups. This may indicate a need for more testing among these groups.
Age and gender
• Overall, testing has been higher among females (though with a similar positivity rate between females
and males tested).
• The testing rate is highest among those aged 90+ (driven by care home testing), and then the next
highest rates are among those aged between 20-49.
Deprivation
• Testing rates are highest in the most deprived and second least deprived parts of the borough (quintiles
1&4).

Persons tested and cases diagnosed per 100,000 population
and positivity per week in Islington, London, and England
(May 5th 2020 to November 4th 2020)
• The rate of positive

Page 97

Covid cases in Islington
has been increasing
since beginning of
August but remains
lower than that of
England and has seen a
slight decline in recent
weeks.

•

Islington’s rate of
persons tested per
100,000 has increased
since mid September,
but has recently begun
to reduce – similar to
London.

•

Positivity rates in
Islington are similar to
that of London at about
7%.

80

180

70

160
140

60

120

50

100

40

80

30

60

20

40

10
-

20
5

Week number

10

15

20

25

30

COVID-19 not mentioned

35

40

44

-

COVID-19 mentioned

Cumulative COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate

Cumulative number of deaths

Page 98

Number of all deaths

Deaths by cause of death (weekly numbers and
cumulative), for deaths that occurred up to 30th October
2020 but were registered up to 7th of November 2020 by
week,

•A total of 157 deaths
in Islington have been
COVID-19 related, up
to 7th November 2020.
•In Islington, the
number of COVID-19
related deaths peaked
during the week of 4
April – 10 April at 42
deaths and has fallen
steadily since.
•There has been 1
death in the recent
week.

Contact Tracing
Between the 28th May when NHS Test and Trace service began and up
until 11th November, in Islington they have identified:

2218 cases
Page 99

who had been in
close contact with

4853
contacts

79% of cases have been
successfully contacted

(London & England 74%)

and of the contacts
identified

63% of contacts have been
successfully contacted

(London 71% and England 75%)

Page 100

The key challenges and
priorities during the second
national lockdown, and
longer term

Targeted communication and engagement plan
•

•

•

•

Enable them to ask questions, share concerns and suggest ideas for reaching their communities more effectively
regarding Covid-19 health messaging

•

Fnd out what they know about COVID and why they are not being tested

•

To share broader information re. Covid-19, Test and Trace and local support services

•

Through the conversations, we have learned that Arabic speaking and Bengali speaking communities wanted the facts
from trusted members of their community and prefer printed materials in their vernacular language.

Weekly key messages are being prepared on hot topics for community members and faith leaders to create
content and share information. This will include videos, graphics on social media, imams' Zoom speeches at
prayers, newsletters, etc.

Page 101

•

Community conversations with VCS groups, MTSS (mother tongue supplementary schools), faith communities,
Arabic, Somali, Bengali speaking communities have taken place to:

Additionally, the Communications team are looking into translating leaflets into Bengali/Sylheti and reviewing
existing communication materials produced by other organisations to see if they can be shared.
Regular commmunication with BAMER and faith communities through VCS bulletins as part of the 'Local
Outbreak Control - Communities Engagement Plan' with follow up calls.

•

Engagement of BAMER, Older people groups re. Islington's Covid-19 Champions Training.

•

Key health messages translated into community languages by local community organisations.

Testing
In order to increase accessibility of testing in Islington, a walk-through testing site has been established at
the Sobell Leisure Centre.
Establishment of a second local testing site in the south of the borough, has been agreed with the Department for
Health and Social Care.
Islington has submitted an expression of interest to explore potential introduction of community asymptomatic testing
in the borough which would become part of our overall prevention and control of infection actions.

•
•

Page 102

Islington would be expected to receive tests equivalent to 10% of the population (i.e. about 25,000) on a
weekly basis. Suggested (not agreed or confirmed) priorities for community asymptomatic testing cover:
social care, particularly our domiciliary care staff, among whom there is a high proportion of people from Black,
SE Asian and other minority ethnic communities (other new tests expected soon may be more suited);
across the education sector within the borough, ranging from early years and schools through to colleges and
higher education settings;

•

larger workplaces or community services, particularly those with greater representation of groups
disproportionately affected (especially lower income and BAME groups); and

•

with our homeless population, in hostels and hotels.

At the current time, there are significant questions to resolve regarding the logistics and funding of the initiative,
among other questions.

Local contact tracing
Local areas have been asked to support the national Test & Trace service by
providing extra follow-up of people with confirmed cases of COVID-19 who the
national service has not been able to contact. At the current time, this would be
expected to be about 75 – 105 local residents each week.

Page 103

Our local Test & Trace model will be grounded in the We are Islington model,
working closely with other teams, notably in adult social care. It therefore will take
a holistic approach including follow-up of uncontacted cases and the proactive
offer of practical and wellbeing support, based on a service which is engaged and
responsive to community needs and works with a range of BAME
community organisations and resources and support in languages other than
English.
Expected to go live during November.

Working with the NHS to maximise flu uptake

Page 104

Using near real time data from GPs, pharmacies and hospitals to monitor uptake of flu vaccination by different
equalities groups to inform ongoing response
•Our new population health management system, HealtheIntent, which operates across North London is being used to
monitor the uptake and refusal of vaccinations across equalities groups including by gender, age, ethnicity, religion,
deprivation, main language spoken at home, learning disabilities, mental health, care homes, pregnancy and other clinical
risk factors.
•It is being used by NHS, Public Health and communications/engagement leads to redirect activity to improve uptake and to
start understanding who is refusing the vaccine. It is being used by care teams (e.g. GPs) to improve uptake for their
populations and most 'at risk' individuals.
Taking action to improve uptake among equalities groups
•Data has highlighted lower uptake among Black and Mixed ethnicity and more deprived communities, and particularly those
who speak Somali. Engagement has been increased with these communities, e.g. messaging on local radio, engagement
with local community leaders (e.g. through Manor Gardens).
•Focused work with children, particularly as childcare settings and schools are continuing to be open during latest lockdown.
Ensuring that children whose parents do not want them to have the nasal flu spray for cultural reasons, can access the
alternative injectable vaccine. Working with NHS immunisation provider and children's services to improve uptake in most
deprived schools, as well as schools and parents.
•Specific work ongoing with the homeless population to ensure that they are being vaccinated, working with the NHS to
understand needs and gap analysis.
•Ongoing promotion of flu vaccination for council staff who are eligible for NHS vaccination, particularly for frontline workers.

Protection of our care homes, domiciliary social
care and the NHS
Supporting providers to implement the latest infection control guidance and best practice:
Communication of key guidance changes and updates via a weekly bulletin.
Regular provider forums to share best practice.
Support from the local public health term where any possible or confirmed cases are identified to ensure infection
control measures are swiftly implemented.
New guidance on care home visits was issued at the start of the second lockdown and has been risk assessed and
implemented in Islington, which permits COVID secure visits based on local risk assessment.

Page 105

Routine testing of residents and staff:
Supporting and monitoring regular testing of staff and residents in care homes for older people, and people with
mental health conditions or learning disability.
Participated in a pilot for one off testing of staff and residents in Extra Care and Supported Living, with additional
local testing capacity identified to continue monthly testing in these settings until an announcement on the national
offer is made.
Explore potential within developments around test technology and capacity to expand routine testing to other adult
social care staff.
No admissions of residents who have tested positive for Covid-19 and still infectious into care homes:
Development of agreed protocol across hospitals and Local Authorities within North Central London so that
no residents are admitted to a care home while still in their isolation period following a positive Covid-19 test.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
HEALTH AND CARE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21
Agenda Despatch Date – 8 July 2020
16 JULY 2020
1. Health and Wellbeing Board update – Situation report
2. Work Programme 2020/21
3. Scrutiny Review – Draft Report – Adult Paid Carers- Consideration of extending scrutiny to
cover issues relating to COVID 19 – Deaths of residents in care homes, sheltered
accommodation, PPE, deaths of staff, Payments for carers/domiciliary staff, Impact on BAME
staff in all sectors
4. Performance update – Quarter 4
5. COVID 19 update
6. Moorfields Quality Account
Agenda Despatch Date – 2 September 2020
10 SEPTEMBER 2020
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Scrutiny Review – Adult Paid Carers – witness evidence
Health and Wellbeing update – situation report
Work Programme 2020/21
COVID 19 update
Scrutiny Review GP Surgeries – 12 month report back

Agenda Despatch – 07 October 2020
15 OCTOBER 2020
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Health and Wellbeing update
Work Programme 2020/21
Healthwatch Annual Report/Work Programme
COVID 19 update
Merger of CCG’s
Hospital backlog – Elective surgery

Agenda Despatch – 18 November 2020
26 NOVEMBER 2020
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Scrutiny Review Adult Paid Carers – witness evidence
Health and Wellbeing Update
Work Programme 2020/21
Islington Safeguarding Board Annual Report
Performance indicators – Quarter 1
COVID 19 update
Scrutiny Review – consideration of topic 2020/21

Page 107

Agenda Despatch – 13 January 2020
21 JANUARY 2021
1.Scrutiny Review – Adult Paid Carers – Draft recommendations
2 Health and Wellbeing update
3. Work Programme 2020/21
4. Performance update – Quarter 2
5. COVID 19 update
6. Whittington NHS Trust – Quality Account/Performance update
7. Alcohol and Drug Abuse – Update
8. Camden and Islington NHS Trust – Performance update
Agenda Despatch – 24 February 2020
4 MARCH 2021
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Scrutiny Review – new topic - Presentation
Health and Wellbeing update
Work Programme 2020/21
Annual Health Public Report
UCLH Performance update
COVID 19 update
London Ambulance service – Performance update
Scrutiny Review Adult Paid Carers – Final Report
Executive Member Health and Social Care – Annual Report

Agenda Despatch – 21 April 2021
29 APRIL 2021
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Health and Wellbeing update
Work Programme 2020/21
Scrutiny Review – witness evidence
Moorfields NHS Trust – Performance update
Performance update – Quarter 3
Progress Report – Merger of CCG’s
Health Inequalities – Report of CCG

JUNE 2021
Quarter 4 Performance update/Council Targets 2021/22

Page 108

